TOPOR, DAVID R., Ph.D. The Impact of Parent Involvement on a Child's Academic Performance. (2007)

Directed by Dr. Susan P. Keane. 120 pp.

Parent involvement in a child's education is consistently found to be positively associated with a child's academic performance. However, there has been little investigation of the mechanisms that explain this association. The present study examines two such potential mechanisms, the child's perception of cognitive competence and the quality of the student-teacher relationship, as potential mediators of the relation between parent involvement and a child's academic performance. This study used a sample of 158 seven-year old participants, their mothers, and their teachers. Results indicated a statistically significant association between parent involvement and a child's academic performance. This finding was significant over and above the impact of the child's intelligence. The child's ethnicity was not a moderator of this relation. A multiple mediation model indicated that the child's perception of cognitive competence fully mediated the relation between parent involvement and the child's performance on a standardized achievement test. The quality of the student-teacher relationship fully mediated the relation between parent involvement and teacher ratings of the child's classroom academic performance. Limitations, future research directions, and implications for public policy initiatives were discussed.

THE IMPACT OF PARENT INVOLVEMENT ON A CHILD'S ACADEMIC PERFORMANCE

By David Topor

A Dissertation Submitted to
the Faculty of The Graduate School at
The University of North Carolina at Greensboro
in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree
Doctor of Philosophy

Greensboro 2007

Approved by	
Committee Chair	

To my parents, Gloria and Isaac, my sister, Debra, my grandparents, Helen, Alex, Dora, and Anchel, my dog, Bailey, and to the Anaya, Coffey, Dove, Mestepey, Zivan, and Zygman families.

To the 1.5 million children of the Shoah who did not have the chance to go to school, and who were lost but will never be forgotten.

APPROVAL PAGE

This Dissertation has been approved by the following committee of the Faculty of The Graduate School and The University of North Carolina at Greensboro

Committee Chair	
Committee Members	
Date of Acceptance by Committee	
z iii oz riii op committe	
Date of Final Oral Exam	

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

With special thanks to my advisor, Dr. Susan P. Keane, my committee members, Dr. Anne Fletcher, Dr. Terri Shelton, and Dr. Paul Silvia, and to the RIGHT-Track Research Grant for making this paper possible. I would also like to thank all of the families, teachers, and administrators who agreed to participate in this project. Finally, I very much appreciate my friends and colleagues who provided invaluable emotional and practical support: Christy Balentine, Louise Berdan, Rob Davidowitz, Kate and Matt Degnan, Suzy, Mike, and Emma Farley, Adam Feigenbaum, Craig and Erynn Fishman, Katie Fowler, Megan and Martin Gabalda, Karen Galin, Paulo Graziano, Jeffrey Gredlein, Robin Howse, Vamsi Koneru, Suzanne Lewis, Micah Mazurek, Rosario Morillo, Rosemery Nelson-Gray, Cryshelle and Jason Patterson, Carrie Pecover, David Rand, Rachael Reavis, Laura and Todd Rhoads, Cathy Roberts, Sheila Schmitt, Elizabeth Shuey, Caitlin Stone, Jennifer and Ethan Tuby, Amanda Williford.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Po	age
LIST OF TABLES	.vii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
CHAPTER	
I. INTRODUCTION	1
1. INTRODUCTION	1
Parent Involvement	1
Proposed Explanations of the Relation Between Parent Involvement	
And Academic Performance	.25
Perceived Cognitive Competence	25
The Student-Teacher Relationship	32
Present Study	35
II. METHOD	43
Participants	
Measures	
Procedure	
Data and Statistics	53
III. RESULTS	57
III. RESUL15	37
Preliminary Analyses	57
Independent and Dependent Variables	
Research Question One	
Research Question Two	
Research Question Three	
Research Question Four	
Research Question Five	
Research Question Six	
Research Question 51x	.09
IV. DISCUSSION	72
Deletion Detrygon Donant Involvement and Academic Denferment	72
Relation Between Parent Involvement and Academic Performance	.13
Relation Between Parent Involvement and Perceived Cognitive Competence	74
Relation Between Parent Involvement and the Student-Teacher	• / т
Relationship	75
Relation Between Perceived Cognitive Competence and Academic	,,,

Performance	75
Relation Between the Student-Teacher Relationship and Academic	
Performance	77
Perceived Cognitive Competence and Student-Teacher Relationship as	3
Mediators of the Relation Between Parent Involvement and	
Academic Performance	78
Summary of Findings	79
Limitations	
Future Research Directions	81
Public Policy Implications	84
REFERENCES	86
APPENDIX A. GENERAL FAMILY INFORMATION	.103
APPENDIX R. ITEMS OF TEACHER REPORT OF PARENT INVOLVEMENT	107

LIST OF TABLES

Page
Table 1. Descriptive Statistics for Measures
Table 2. Correlations Between Variables of Interest
Table 3. Descriptive Statistics By Ethnicity
Table 4. Regression Analyses Testing Ethnicity as a Moderator of Parent Involvement as a Predictor of Child's WIAT-II Score
Table 5. Regression Analyses Testing Parent Involvement as a Predictor of Child's WIAT-II Score
Table 6. Regression Analyses Testing Ethnicity as a Moderator of Parent Involvement as a Predictor of Child's Classroom Academic Performance
Table 7. Regression Analyses Testing Parent Involvement as a Predictor of Child's Classroom Academic Performance
Table 8. Regression Analyses Testing Parent Involvement as a Predictor of Perceived Cognitive Competence and the Student-Teacher Relationship
Table 9. Regression Analyses Testing Perceived Cognitive Competence as a Predictor of Child's Academic Performance
Table 10. Regression Analyses Testing Positive Student-Teacher Relationship as a Predictor of Child's Academic Performance
Table 11. Regression Analyses Testing Perceived Cognitive Competence and the Student-Teacher Relationship as Multiple Mediators of the Relation Between Parent Involvement and Child's Academic Performance

LIST OF FIGURES

	Page
Figure 1. Full Mediation	120

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Parent Involvement

Parent involvement in a child's education is consistently found to be associated with a child's academic performance (Bogenschneider, 1997; Hara & Burke, 1998; Hill & Craft, 2003; Marcon, 1999; McWayne, Hampton, Fantuzzo, Cohen, & Sekino, 2004; Miedel & Reynolds, 1999; Stevenson & Baker, 1987). Specifically, children whose parents are more involved in their education have higher levels of academic performance than children whose parents are involved to a lesser degree. Parent involvement is therefore an important construct to examine, given the importance of a child's early academic success.

The influence of parent involvement on academic success has not only been noted among researchers, but also among policy makers who have integrated efforts aimed at increasing parent involvement into broader educational policy initiatives. For instance, the United States Congress set national educational goals that mandate some level of family-school connection. In 1994, the United States Congress passed *The Goals 2000: Educate America Act* (United States Department of Education, 1994). The goal of this Act was to provide a "national framework for educational reform" (United States Department of Education, 1994). The Act included provisions such as: (a). "By the year 2000, every school will promote partnerships that will increase parental involvement and

participation in promoting the social, emotional, and academic growth of children" (b). "Every state will develop policies to assist local schools and local educational agencies to establish programs for increasing partnerships that respond to the varying needs of parents and the home, including parents of children who are disadvantaged or bilingual, or parents of children with disabilities" (c). "Every school will actively engage parents and families in a partnership which supports the academic work of children at home and shared educational decision making at school" (d). "Parents and families will help to ensure that schools are adequately supported and will hold schools and teachers to high standards of accountability" (United States Department of Education, 1994).

According to Jimerson, Egeland, and Tao (1999), increasing a child's academic performance in early elementary school is particularly important, because academic achievement in elementary school is a critical precursor for later academic success and ultimately for life success. Other researchers have reported that early academic success is related to a variety of positive life outcomes including higher self-esteem, greater employment opportunities, and better overall physical health (Ceci & Williams, 1997; Renter & Kober, 2001; United States Department of Education, 2001). Cicchetti and Toth (1998) indicated that early academic success is also related to lower incidences of negative outcomes such as school dropout, the development of depression and anxiety, and alcohol and illicit substance abuse.

Coupled with these findings of the importance of early academic success, a child's academic success has been found to be relatively stable after early elementary school (Entwisle & Hayduk, 1988; Pedersen, Faucher, & Eaton, 1978; Pianta &

Steinberg, 1992). Therefore, examining factors that contribute to early academic success is important. Several factors that have been found to consistently predict academic performance include family income (Marcon, 1999; McWayne, Hampton, Fantuzzo, Cohen, & Sekino, 2004), child Intelligence Quotient (IQ) (Brody, 1997; Christian, Morrison, & Bryant, 1988), and maternal education level (Alwin & Thornton, 1984). As these factors are relatively stable and therefore not appropriate targets for intervention, additional factors that are amenable to change need to be explored in order to inform interventions that will increase children's academic performance.

Researchers such as Berk (2001) and Christian, Morrison, and Bryant (1998) have reported that the child-parent interactions are perhaps the most influential on the child's social, emotional, and academic development. Further, a child's early acquisition of academic skills is promoted by stimulating and responsive parenting practices (Committee on Early Childhood Pedagogy, 2000). Thus, it has been suggested that specific parenting variables that are amenable to change and have an important impact on the child's academic performance be examined to increase a child's academic performance. This has led to a renewed focus on the relation between parenting practices at home and the relation of these practices to outcomes in the school environment.

Parent involvement is an important aspect of the interaction between the home and school environments that leads to increased academic performance. Parent involvement has been conceptualized in several ways in the literature. These frameworks have included educational activities parents engage in at home and at school (Epstein, 1990, 1996; Grolnick & Slowiaczek, 1994), the frequency with which parents engage in

these academic activities, and the attitudes parents have towards their child's school and education (Kohl, Lengua, & McMahon, 2000; Rimm-Kaufman, Pianta, Cox, & Bradley, 2003).

While parent involvement in general has been found to be related to increased academic performance, the specific mechanisms through which parent involvement exerts its influence on a child's academic performance are not yet fully understood (Hill & Craft, 2003). Understanding these mechanisms is important, as it would inform further research and policy initiatives and may lead to the development of more effective intervention programs designed to increase children's academic performance.

The purpose of this study is to examine two mechanisms, a child's perceived cognitive competence and the quality of the student-teacher relationship, by which parent involvement may impact a child's academic performance in early elementary school.

Models of Parent Involvement

Previous studies have used varying models and definitions of behaviors and relationships that represent parent involvement (Christenson, Rounds, & Gorney, 1992; Jeynes, 2003; Lawson, 2003). Definitions of parent involvement are typically based on one of several theoretical models of what constitutes parent involvement (Kohl, Lengua, & McMahon, 2000). Several older theories concentrate on behaviors that parents engage in, including attending school functions and interacting with the teacher. Recently, newer frameworks of parent involvement differentiate between the activities parents engage in and the attitudes parents have toward education and their child's school. Reasons for this differentiation are discussed when describing these frameworks. Despite this apparent

shift in thinking about parent involvement, several common theoretical threads are pervasive in the varied models that have been used.

Epstein's model. Epstein (1990, 1996) proposed six types of parent involvement, mainly focusing on the collaboration between the home and school environments. These six types are the most widely recognized and cited in the literature (Hoover-Dempsey & Sandler, 1995). Epstein's (1990, 1996) framework allows for a broad view of parent involvement and serves as the basis for several other conceptualizations of involvement (Hoover-Dempsey & Sandler, 1995).

The first type of involvement focuses on school programs that help parents fulfill their basic obligations of providing for their child's safety and health. These programs may help the family learn skills to build positive home conditions conducive to learning, assist with child-rearing, or provide supervision and guidance for children (Epstein, 1990, 1996).

The second type of involvement refers to communication from school to home about school programs and student progress. This is achieved through school newsletters, notices about the student's progress, parent-teacher conferences, and report cards (Epstein, 1990, 1996).

The third type of involvement includes programs that allow parents to volunteer in the child's classroom and encourages the attendance of parents at student performances, sports, or other school events. Students are encouraged to participate in extracurricular activities and parents are encouraged to become involved in the school environment through their participation (Epstein, 1990, 1996).

Epstein's (1990, 1996) fourth type of involvement refers to learning activities that parents engage in at home to help monitor and assist their children in developing their academic abilities. This level of involvement requires parent knowledge of what skills their child needs to master in each grade, how to monitor their child's work, and parent action such as discussing schoolwork with their child.

A fifth type of involvement encompasses leadership opportunities for parents at school, particularly in decision-making roles such as serving on district school boards, advocacy groups, or school committees. While this type of involvement is more indirect compared to direct involvement with classroom activities, it encourages parents to model civic-minded and leadership behavior for children and illustrates the important role of the school in the community (Epstein 1990, 1996).

Finally, the sixth type of involvement includes collaboration between the school and the surrounding community, including local businesses, colleges, and agencies, to strengthen student learning.

Grolnick and Slowiaczek's model. Although many research studies continue to use Epstein's framework to understand parent involvement, competing perspectives have emerged to account for other dimensions of involvement (Fishel & Ramirez, 2005). Grolnick and Slowiaczek (1994) used both parent and teacher report to define parent involvement as the dedication of parent resources at home and at school in three domains: (a) behavioral, (b) cognitive-intellectual, and (c) personal involvement (Grolnick, Ryan, & Deci, 1991). These domains are only moderately correlated, supporting the idea that involvement has multiple facets (Grolnick & Slowiaczek, 1994).

In the behavioral domain, parent involvement is evident in parent participation in school-related activities both at home and at school. This participation could include helping with homework, asking about the child's school activities and attending school functions and open houses (Grolnick & Slowiaczek, 1994).

Cognitive-intellectual involvement comprises parents providing intellectually stimulating activities for the child outside of school, such as taking a trip to the library or discussing current events. Personal involvement encompasses the teacher's perception that the parent cares about school and has a positive attitude towards school and towards the child's education (Grolnick & Slowiaczek, 1994).

Kohl, Lengua, and McMahon's model. Kohl, Lengua, and McMahon (2000) integrated parent and teacher reports of parent involvement to create six theoretical factors that constituted parent involvement. A confirmatory factor analysis supported the proposed 6-factor theoretical model. The factors incorporated the quantity and quality of parent involvement behaviors. Three of the factors examined the quantity or frequency of behaviors that were common among existing theoretical frameworks in the literature, including frequency of attending school events and helping the child with homework.

The first factor theorized by Kohl et al. (2000) is the frequency of parent teacher contact, through communication on the phone, in person, or through written correspondence. This communication has the dual goals of facilitating the parent's understanding of the child's school progress and providing the parent with skills to help his or her child complete homework.

The second factor discussed by Kohl at al. (2000) was the frequency of attendance at school-related activities. Attendance at these events was counted when parents volunteered for school-related events or attended parent group meetings such as the Parent-Teacher Association.

The third factor reported in Kohl et al.'s (2000) model was the frequency of parent activities at home that were related to school readiness. These activities included parents reading with the child, assisting the child with homework, and taking the child to the library. The frequency factors were measured by responses on a 5-point scale, where scores corresponded with a set range of the frequency of the activity (e.g., one time per month, etc.). Higher scores were indicative of increased frequency (Kohl et al. 2000).

As proposed by Kohl et al. (2000), the next three factors are aimed at capturing the quality of the parents involvement using both parent and teacher report. Quality of involvement was a facet not specifically identified and isolated in previous definitions. Quality of involvement was also measured on a 5-point Likert-type scale, with higher scores indicating more agreement (e.g. Not at all; Very much, etc.) with the items.

The first quality factor was the quality of the parent-teacher relationship. The instrument designed to measure this factor assessed the parent's feelings about the teacher using questions such as "Do you enjoy talking with you child's teacher?" and "Do you feel that the teacher cares about your child?" and the teacher's feelings about the parent, using questions such as "Is the parent interested in knowing you?" (Kohl et al., 2000).

The instrument designed to assess the second quality factor measured the teacher's perception of the parent's value of education and investment in their child's education and included questions such as "Does the parent encourage positive attitudes toward education?" Finally, the instrument designed to assess the third quality factor examined the family's satisfaction with and endorsement of the child's school, including the extent to which the parents feel that the school is preparing the child for the future (Kohl, et al., 2000). The researchers tested their instrument on their sample to determine the internal validity of their measures. They found that internal consistency as measured by Cronbach's alpha ranged from .67 to .93 on the subscales for these six factors.

Other definitions of parent involvement. The framework of parent involvement proposed by Kohl et al. (2000) was the first to differentiate between the frequency of the parent's involvement and the quality of the involvement. More recent studies of parent involvement have also differentiated between the quantity and quality of parent involvement.

For instance, Rimm-Kaufman, Pianta, Cox, and Bradley (2003) defined parent involvement as consisting of both the teacher's perception of the activities parents engage in and the teacher's perception of the attitudes parents have towards education and towards their child's school. Rimm-Kaufman et al. (2003) measured parent attitudes through teacher ratings on a 5-point scale, with higher scores indicting greater involvement. Questions included "How well do you feel you can talk to and be heard by this parent?" and "How much do you feel this parent has the same goals for his/her child that the school does?"

This distinction between attitude and activity further contributed to the current understanding of parent involvement, as positive family attitudes towards education as reported by the child's teacher were found to be significant predictors of higher teacher ratings of the child's language and mathematics performance in kindergarten. Parent involvement activities did not predict the child's language or mathematics performance (Rimm-Kaufman et al., 2003). Therefore, the distinction between the parent's activities and attitudes may be a useful one for predicting outcomes of parent involvement, specifically the child's academic performance. While these findings may discount the importance of parent activities, it may be possible that other factors have yet to be considered when examining the frequency of activities. For instance, these studies did not measure the intent of the parent's involvement or perhaps were unable to delineate specific involvement activities that were related to a child's academic performance.

Definitions of parent involvement proposed by Espstein (1996), Grolnick and Slowiaczek (1994), and Kohl, Lengua, and McMahon (2000) all include home-based and school-based activities such as volunteering in the child's school, helping with homework, and interacting with the child's teacher. Recently, the difference between the parent's attitudes or feelings about the child's education and schooling and the parent's activities, or actual participation in school activities has been considered. This distinction appears to have an impact when considering the impact of parent involvement on a child's academic performance (Rimm-Kaufman et al., 2003). Specifically, it may be that the attitudes parents have towards education have a greater impact on academic performance than do the activities parents engage in.

Parent Involvement and Academic Performance

Researchers have found parent involvement in a child's education to be associated with child academic performance, as measured by the child's scores on standardized achievement tests, by classroom grades, and by teacher ratings of the child's academic performance in the classroom (Bogenschneider, 1997; Hamre & Pianta, 2001; Hara & Burke, 1998; Hill & Craft, 2003; Jeynes, 2003; Marcon, 1999; McWayne, Hampton, Fantuzzo, Cohen, & Sekino, 2004; Stevenson & Baker, 1987).

Marcon (1999) demonstrated that, among pre-school children, increased parent involvement was positively associated with the child's mastery of basic early academic skills. Parent involvement was defined in this study by the number of "yes" or "no" responses for four parent and teacher activities (parent attendance at parent-teacher conferences, home visits by the teacher, extended class visits by the parent, and parental help with a class activity). McWayne et al. (2004) found that increased parent involvement was positively related to teacher ratings of kindergarten children's reading and mathematics achievement. Parent involvement was operationalized in this study based on Epstein's (1990, 1996) framework of parent involvement. Parent involvement at home (learning activities that parents engage in at home to help and assist their children in developing academic abilities), as rated by the child's parent, had the strongest association with teacher-rated reading and mathematics achievement.

Grolnick and Slowiaczek (1994) extended this work by including the frequency with which parents engage in school and home-based activities, as well as the teacher's perception of the value or importance the parents placed on education. These three types

of parent involvement (home, school, and teacher perception) together accounted for eight percent of the variance when predicting standardized mathematics scores and nineteen percent of the variance when predicting standardized reading scores.

Recently, the distinction between the activities parents engage in and the attitudes parents have about education and the school has resulted in differing results with regard to the impact of parent involvement on academic outcomes. In particular, Izzo et al. (1999) reported that an increase in the parent's school activities was associated with worsening achievement and classroom behavior. This result was attributed to the fact that the frequency of behaviors, such as number of parent-teacher contacts, was related to behavior problems in the classroom. Specifically, it was believed that the number of parent-teacher contacts was associated with a child's existing behavior problems, rather than the number of parent-teacher contacts leading children to behave poorly.

Conversely, a parent's positive attitude toward education and school was found to be positively associated with positive child academic outcomes (Kohl, et al. 2000; Rimm-Kaufman, et al. 2003). Consistent with this finding, Izzo et al. (1999) found that among kindergarten through third grade children, the parent's positive attitude, rather than quantity or frequency of parent involvement behaviors, predicted improvement in the child's academic performance.

Similarly, Hill and Craft (2003) found that parent involvement was a significant predictor of standardized mathematics achievement test scores among kindergarten children. Parent involvement was defined in this study as the activities parents engage in at home and at school, and the teacher's perception of the parent's attitude toward

education. The teacher's perception of the parent's attitude toward education was more significantly related to the child's reading and mathematics performance, as rated by the child's teacher, than was activities parents engage in.

Thus, while both activities and attitudes are components of parent involvement, some previous research has found that the attitude the parent has towards education and school is positively associated with the child's academic performance, whereas increased frequency of activities was not associated with the child's academic performance. These findings may be due to the lack of discrimination in previous studies of the reason for the parents participating in school related activities. For instance, parents may attend parent-teacher conferences to better understand the child's academic skills and to build a strong home-school connection, or they may attend a parent-teacher conference to tell the teacher of concerns over their child's abilities or because the teacher requested a conference due to behavioral or academic difficulties in the classroom. Current frameworks of parent involvement do not appear to adequately account for the different reasons parents may partake in involvement activities.

In addition, while previous research has demonstrated that there is a relation between parent involvement and a child's academic performance, comparing outcomes across these studies is difficult due to the varying definitions of parent involvement and academic performance. A more thorough consideration of how parent involvement influences the several methods by which student academic performance is evaluated is necessary.

Assessment of Academic Performance in Early Elementary School

Three methods of assessment have primarily been used to measure a child's academic performance in early elementary school: standardized achievement tests, teacher ratings of academic performance, and report card grades (Adams, Ryan, Ketsetzis, & Keating, 2000; Fan, 2001). Each of these three methods have strengths and limitations.

instruments that assess the skills and abilities children learn through direct intervention or instruction (Sattler, 2001). These tests typically assess abilities and skills in a variety of subject areas including reading, mathematics, and writing. Standardized achievement tests, such as the Woodcock-Johnson Test of Achievement (WJ-III ACH; Woodcock, McGrew, & Mather, 2001) and the Wechsler Individual Achievement Test (WIAT-II; The Psychological Corporation, 2002), are valid and reliable measures of learning and have been used to compare children's performance within age groups (Sattler, 2001). Furthermore, both tests were standardized on large, national samples, and both are widely used tests of achievement (Sattler, 2001).

Although achievement tests are used frequently as measures of academic performance, several factors may limit their usefulness (DuPaul & Rapport, 1991). These tests may be unable to adequately assess all subject areas taught in the academic curriculum. In addition, achievement tests use a limited number of items to sample various academic skills, which does not allow for a complete understanding of the child's academic performance (DuPaul & Rapport, 1991). However, the items used on

standardized achievement tests are widely used and validated and perhaps fewer items are needed to understand a child's academic performance.

Despite these potential limitations, standardized achievement tests have superior psychometric and normative data to other means of measuring a child's academic performance and are widely used to study a child's academic performance. They are the most widely recognized measure of a child's academic performance, although some studies supplement achievement test scores with other indicators of a child's academic performance, such as teacher ratings of academic performance and report card grades, to provide a more complete understanding of a child's performance.

Teacher rating scales. Teacher rating scales are a means for teachers to provide their judgment of a child's academic performance (DuPaul & Rapport, 1991). Teachers are able to rate the accuracy of the child's academic work compared to other children in the class. There are several benefits to using teacher rating scales to study a child's academic performance. These scales allow for the observation of student academic performance on a wider range of academic tasks than those examined on standardized achievement tests (DuPaul & Rapport, 1991). Another strength of some rating scales is the inclusion of a standard set of valid and reliable questions for teachers to complete, which allows for a comparison of teacher ratings for children from different classrooms and different schools (DuPaul & Rapport, 1991).

As with standardized achievement tests, there are limitations inherent to using teacher ratings of academic performance. The usefulness of teacher ratings is limited by potential inherent biases the teacher may hold about the child and the child's parents. For

example, it has been speculated that teacher ratings of a child's classroom academic performance may be related to the teacher's perception of the importance the child's parents place on education, with higher ratings given to children whose parents the teacher perceives as being cooperative and involved (Jeynes, 2003). Teacher ratings may even reflect an acknowledgement by the teacher of the parent's efforts. Teacher ratings of a child's academic performance may also be influenced by several other variables, including the child's academic performance in other disciplines ("halo effect"), the average performance of the class in the discipline (class context effect), and individual characteristics of the child, including whether the child has repeated a grade (Dompnier, Pansu, & Bressoux, 2006). In addition to these potential biases, it may be the case that rating scales may only provide a global description of the child's academic performance. That is, rating scales may be unable to distinguish between more subtle differences in academic performance in the manner achievement tests are capable of. Finally, teacher rating scales that have normative data from various regions of the country, data from urban, rural, and suburban settings, and data from different ethnic and socioeconomic groups have yet to be developed (DuPaul & Rapport, 1991).

Report card grades. Report card grades provide yet another means for teachers to report the child's academic performance in the classroom. Only a few studies have examined report card grades as a measure of academic performance for children in early elementary school. There are several reasons for this lack of widespread use. A main reason is a lack of standardized grading system or subjects that children are evaluated on. While report card grades do provide information on a wide variety of subjects, the

subjects assessed differ from school to school. In addition, the grading system used often differs from school to school for children in early elementary school. While some schools may use a traditional letter grading system to evaluate a child's work, other schools may use more global and subjective descriptors such as "satisfactory" or "On/Above Level"/ "Below Level" to describe a child's academic performance (Hamre & Pianta, 2001). These descriptors give a vague sense of what type of performance constitutes a "satisfactory" grade. These types of grading systems may also only contain a very restricted range of descriptors, which may not allow for a wide enough distribution of grades needed to distinguish meaningful differences in academic performance among students.

Further, the descriptors may not be used in a reliable or valid way across classrooms. Teachers, even within the same school, may use these descriptors in different ways as teachers may have different ideas of what "Satisfactory" is. Teachers may also have different ideas of what an average grade for the class should be, which again may lead to inconsistent use of grades from teacher to teacher (Entwisle & Alexander, 1988).

Teachers may also grade each child differently, depending on the teacher's expectations of what current and future performance should be for the individual child. For instance, teachers may have high expectations for certain students and hold them to stricter standards than other students (Entwisle & Alexander, 1988).

Finally, similar to a limitation of teacher rating scales of academic performance, some educators view grades as more of an arbitrary assessment by the teacher and

susceptible to influence based on a parent's level of involvement (Dornbusch, Ritter, Leiderman, Roberts, & Fraleigh, 1987). For instance, one study found that teacher perception of the child and of the parent's level of involvement influenced the child's grades, with increased parent involvement leading to a more favorable teacher perception of the child, resulting in higher grades (Hamre & Pianta, 2001). Taken together, it appears that there are numerous limitations to the validity and reliability of using report card grades to understand a child's academic performance in early elementary school.

Previous research has typically measured a child's academic performance in early elementary school children by standardized achievement tests and teacher rating scales. There are benefits and limitations to each method of assessment, leading some researchers to use both methods to more fully examine a child's academic performance (DuPaul, Volpe, Jitendra, Lutz, Lorah, & Gruber, 2004). Using multiple methods to account for most psychological and performance characteristics, including a child's academic performance, allows for a more valid assessment of the construct (Meehl, 1986).

Impact of Parent Involvement on Different Measures of Academic Performance

Previous research has been mixed as to which measure of academic performance, standardized achievement test scores or teacher ratings, is most related to parent involvement. Few studies have examined the impact of involvement on both of these measures of academic performance simultaneously. As teacher ratings are more of a subjective assessment by the teacher, some researchers have speculated that teacher ratings may be more susceptible to influence based on the teacher's perception of the

level of parent involvement (Dornbusch, Ritter, Leiderman, Roberts, & Fraleigh, 1987). That is, a higher level of parent involvement may bias the teacher to more favorably view the child's academic performance.

Jeynes (2003) found in a meta-analysis that parent involvement improves teacher ratings of academic performance more than it does standardized achievement test scores. He attributed this finding to teacher ratings being impacted by the perceived cooperation of the child's family, and that teachers may view that child in a more positive manner as a result of a high level of parent involvement and may feel inclined to reward the child. Jeynes (2003) also theorized that parents may focus their involvement on school outcomes rather than results of standardized tests.

Other researchers have suggested that parent involvement may impact a child's performance on standardized achievement tests more than on teacher rating scales. These researchers theorized that involved parents may place more importance on achievement test scores than on classroom academic performance as these parents may view achievement test scores as more indicative of a child's actual academic capabilities (Marsh, Trautwein, Ludtke, Koller, & Baumert, 2005). As a result, children may view achievement scores as having "higher stakes" than classroom academic performance and apply more effort during testing than when completing school assignments. However, these speculations have yet to be demonstrated in a research study.

Demographic Factors That Influence the Relation Between Parent Involvement and a Child's Academic Performance

Previous research has identified several demographic characteristics that influence both parent involvement and a child's academic performance, as measured by standardized achievement test scores or teacher ratings of academic performance. These characteristics include the child's ethnicity, family income, parent level of education, and child IQ. While these variables are not easily amenable to change and are thus not feasible targets for intervention, they are important to understanding the relation between parent involvement and academic performance. In addition, differences based on ethnicity, family income, and parent education, are often intertwined and difficult to interpret.

Ethnicity. Previous research has produced mixed findings with regard to differences in the level of parent involvement across ethnic groups. Ethnic groups are typically characterized by similar cultural norms, religion, values, and family patterns. Specifically, several studies found that parent involvement was found to be lower among African American parents and Hispanic parents when compared to European American parents (Kohl et al., 2000; Zellman & Waterman, 1998). This finding was explained in both studies as representing differences in what the parents' perceived role is in their child's education and their view of the school and the teacher. For instance, Kohl et al. (2000) speculated that African American parents had fewer positive school experiences of their own and may view their child's teacher with discomfort or even resentment. However, Stevenson, Chen, and Uttal (1990) found that European American parents

tended to be less likely to assume a more central role in their child's education than

African American or Hispanic parents, leaving the child's education more in the domain

of the school and the teacher.

Ethnicity may also play a role in the importance of particular measures of academic performance. According to Julian, McKenry, and McKelvey (1994), European American parenting practices usually value individualism, individual achievement, and competition. These views may lead European American parents to encourage increased performance on individually administered achievement tests, while African American parenting practices often value interdependence and security and a group effort for common interests (Hill, 2001).

Stevenson et al. (1990) reported that European American mothers tend to be more realistic in evaluating their child's academic capabilities in reading and mathematics than African American and Hispanic mothers, who overestimated their child's capabilities.

This finding may lead to differences in the expectations European American, African American, and Hispanic mothers have for their child's level of achievement and the role of the parent and the teacher in increasing their child's academic performance.

In addition to being related to parent involvement, ethnicity has frequently been found to be related to a child's academic performance. For example, recent findings indicate that 71% of European American students perform at or above grade level, contrasted with 31% of African American students (United States Department of Education, 1999).

Furthermore, Fan (2001) found that mean scores on reading, math, science, and social studies achievement tests varied depending upon ethnicity. Specifically, Asian American students had the highest mean achievement test scores, followed by European American, African American, and Hispanic students. This finding is consistent with results from Kenny and Faunce (2004), who found that Asian American students scored higher than European American students on tests of academic achievement. However, Bogenschneider (1997) found that children achieved higher classroom grades when parents were involved, regardless of the child's ethnicity. Overall, the observed differences in academic performance across ethnic groups may not be solely linked to ethnicity, but may stem from differences in parenting practices, goals, and values the child's parents have towards the child's academic performance (Hill, 2001). Taken together, it appears that ethnicity is one important influence on parent's involvement in education and on a children's academic performance. Further, there may be ethnic differences in parents' beliefs about the role of parents in the child's education, attitudes toward the child's school, and expectations of the child's academic performance. Ethnicity may, therefore, change the strength of the relation between parent involvement and a child's academic performance.

Family income. Previous research has found mixed results when examining the relation between family income, parent involvement, and a child's academic performance. Marcon (1999) and McWayne et al. (2004) found that parents with low family incomes were as involved as parents with high family incomes. Marcon (1999) defined parent involvement by teacher "yes"/"no" responses to four categories of parent-

teacher contact, including a parent-teacher conference, home visit by the teacher, extended class visit by the parent, and parent help with class activity. Marcon (1999) also found that some lower income families with children in Head Start programs participated in more school activities than more affluent families with children in preschool. This finding was attributed to the emphasis of Head Start on building a stronger home-school relationship. In addition, several studies have found that students from lower income families perform at a lower level on academic tasks than do children from middle or higher income levels (Alwin & Thornton, 1984; Jimerson, Egeland, & Teo, 1999; McWayne, Hampton, Fantuzzo, Cohen, & Sekino, 2004; Pettit, Bates, & Dodge, 1997). However, these findings have been mixed as well. Other researchers have not found a relation between a family's socioeconomic status, which accounts for the family's income and the parent's level of education, on academic outcomes, as measured by a child's achievement test scores and teacher ratings of a child's academic performance (Graziano, Reavis, Keane, & Calkins, 2007; Stevenson, Chen, & Uttal, 1990).

Academic performance difficulties based on ethnicity and family income are often difficult to interpret because ethnicity and family income are highly related (Hill, 2001). Few studies have disentangled the effects of these two variables on academic performance. Stevenson et al. (1990) reported that after controlling for family income, African American students in the first and third grades still scored significantly lower on math and reading tests than European American students. Thus, it may be the case that

the child's ethnicity impacts the parent's involvement and perhaps expectations of the child's academic performance, over and above the impact of the family's income.

Parent education level. Previous research has also found that the parent's level of education is related to the child's academic performance (Alwin & Thornton, 1984; Stevenson & Baker, 1987). In particular, the mother's educational background is a significant predictor of a child's school performance. Alwin and Thornton (1984) reported a positive correlation between mother's education level and the child's Grade Point Average (GPA): as the number years of schooling the mother completed increased, so did the child's GPA. Stevenson and Baker (1987) found that among children in elementary school through high school, the mother's level of education was significantly related to the child's school performance, as measured by teacher ratings. Mother's level of education was measured on a 7-point scale, with the lowest value indicating an education level of eighth grade or less and the highest value indicating the mother had attained an advanced degree. Thus, it appears that the mother's level of education is related to the child's classroom academic performance.

Child intelligence. Previous research has consistently demonstrated that child intelligence is strongly and positively related to academic performance, and is predictive of later academic performance (Brody, 1997; Christian, Morrison, & Bryant, 1998; Howse, Calkins, Anastopoulos, Keane, & Shelton, 2003; Kenney & Faunce, 2004; Sattler, 2001; Watkins, Lei, & Canivez, 2006; Zellman & Waterman, 1998). For instance, Howse et al. (2003) examined predictors of mathematics achievement test scores of kindergarten children and found that the child's IQ alone accounted for 28

percent of the variance. Graziano et al. (2007) found that a child's IQ accounted for 32 percent of the variance when predicting standardized math achievement test scores in kindergarten. Other researchers have reported evidence that kindergarten IQ scores are strongly related to kindergarten, first grade, and sixth grade reading achievement scores (Butler, Marsh, Sheppard, & Sheppard, 1985; Naglieri, De Lauder, Goldstein, & Schwebech, 2006). Despite these findings indicating a strong relation between child IQ and academic achievement, none of the previous studies investigating the impact of parent involvement on academic performance accounted for child IQ. This exclusion may lead to faulty conclusions, as it may be the case that children with higher IQ scores have higher performance on measures of academic performance, regardless of the level of parent involvement.

Proposed Explanations of the Relation Between Parent Involvement and Academic

Performance

Although the effect of socio-demographic variables on parent involvement and academic performance has been examined, no studies to date have examined the mechanisms by which parent involvement influences a child's academic performance. Previous researchers have examined two variables that may explain this relationship, the child's perceived cognitive competence and the student-teacher relationship.

Perceived Cognitive Competence

Perceived cognitive competence is defined as the extent to which children believe that they possess the necessary cognitive skills to be successful when completing academic tasks, such as reading, writing, and arithmetic (Harter & Pike, 1984). Previous

research found evidence that higher parent involvement contributes to an increase in a child's perceived level of competence (Gonzalez-DeHass, Willems, & Holbein, 2005; Grolnick, Ryan, & Deci, 1991). In addition, a child's increased perception of cognitive competence is consistently related to higher academic performance (Chapman, Skinner, & Baltes, 1990; Ladd & Price, 1986; Schunk, 1981; Skinner, Chapman, & Baltes, 1988a). Based on these findings, Gonzalez-DeHass et al., (2005) suggest that perceived cognitive competence be examined to explain the relation between parent involvement and a child's academic performance.

According to Findley and Cooper (1983), children who believe that they have the ability to achieve positive academic outcomes score higher on classroom exams and on standardized achievement tests. These results have been consistently been reported in multiple samples of elementary and middle school children (Chapman et al., 1990; Schunk & Pajares, 2005; Skinner, Wellborn, & Connell, 1990). As research on the impact of cognitive competence on academic performance relies on child self-report, it is important to consider the validity of such data.

Validity of Measurement of a Child's Perceived Cognitive Competence

Previous research has found that children are relatively accurate reporters of their own level of cognitive competence to complete academic tasks (Anderson & Adams, 1985; Assor & Connell, 1992). Anderson and Adams (2001) found that for pre-school children, perceived cognitive competence was significantly related to three clusters of standardized achievement test scores (Woodcock-Johnson Psycho-Educational Battery Preschool Scale Cluster, Skills Cluster, Knowledge Cluster). Following a review of

multiple studies assessing the validity of self-report of competency in students from elementary school through high school, Assor and Connell (1992) concluded that self-reported appraisals of cognitive competence are highly related to others' evaluations of the child's competence. The child's self-report was also predictive of academic performance outcomes. In addition, current assessment instruments provide a valid means of measuring a child's self-perception of competence (Harter &- Pike, 1984).

Bandura (1977) suggested that perceptions of cognitive competence result in children's increased confidence in their ability to successfully execute the behavior required of them. Consistent with this explanation, Schunk (1991) found that children with higher perceptions of their cognitive capabilities expended greater effort, persisted longer, and achieved more than children who doubted their cognitive capabilities. In addition, kindergarten children were more accurate in their perception of cognitive competence than were children in preschool, indicating that the validity of the construct may increase over time (Anderson & Adams, 1985). Ladd and Price (1986) found that for students in third through fifth grades, higher self-ratings of perceived competence in the cognitive domain were related to higher scores on all subscales of a standardized achievement test (Iowa Test of Basic Skills). Schunk's (1981) study of nine to eleven-year old participants examined perceptions of cognitive competence and found that children with higher perceived cognitive competence on arithmetic tasks persisted longer and achieved greater success than did children with lower perceived competence.

Theoretical Methods by Which Parents May Influence a Child's Perception of Cognitive Competence

Researchers have theorized that parents are able to influence their child's actual cognitive competence, and as a result their child's perception of cognitive competence, in several ways (Clark & Ladd, 2000; Cohn, 1990). Bandura (1977) presented a theoretical basis for pathways through which children's perceptions and expectations of their cognitive competence are influenced: (a) performance accomplishments/performance mastery, (b) vicarious reinforcement, (c) verbal persuasion, and (d) emotion regulation (Bandura, 1977). These pathways are particularly salient for younger children completing tasks in the academic domain, as younger children have limited experiences with academic tasks and are uncertain about their abilities to complete these tasks (Schunk & Pajares, 2005). This lack of experience may allow parents to have a greater influence on children's perceptions of their abilities.

Personal mastery or accomplishment experiences. According to Bandura (1977), parents increase a child's perception of cognitive competence by setting up personal mastery or accomplishment experiences for the child through participant modeling, performance desensitization, and performance exposure (Bandura, 1977). Participant modeling entails parents displaying a behavior for the child and then guiding the child's subsequent performance. Following this concept, Schunk (1981) selected children with low achievement in arithmetic, as identified by their teachers. Children were assigned to one of two mathematics training sessions. In one session, the trainer modeled solving arithmetic problems including verbalizing the correct strategies to use and providing

corrective feedback while the child was solving the problem. In the other session the trainer referred the child to the appropriate lesson in the textbook when the child had difficulty. Results indicated that children in the group that received problem-solving principles, modeling of how to apply these principles, and corrective feedback developed both more advanced math skills and an enhanced sense of efficacy in solving arithmetic problems than did children who were referred to the lesson in the textbook. Involved parents may be able to enact similar strategies to influence their child's perception of cognitive competence. According to Bandura (1977), performance desensitization occurs when parents are able to present difficult academic problems to the child in an encouraging and positive atmosphere. For example, this might occur when parents develop a simpler set of arithmetic problems for the child to complete, before introducing more difficult ones. As the child continues to experience success in solving math problems, mastery expectations may increase and generalize to other academic activities (Bandura, 1977). Desensitization also provides exposure to solving academic problems in an encouraging, positive, and relaxed atmosphere. For instance, one study found that the more difficult the parent perceived the task to be, the harder the child felt the problem was, and the less likely the child was to work on the task (Ladd & Price, 1986). Conversely, parents who positively interpreted academic tasks had children who felt more confident in their ability to work on and successfully solve academic problems.

Vicarious reinforcement. Bandura (1977) theorized that another pathway of influencing a child's perceptions and expectations of cognitive competence is through vicarious reinforcement. Parents provide reinforcement for their child when the child is

able to observe the parent model successful problem-solving. A child who observes a parent successfully solve academic problems may be more likely to believe that they also can successfully solve problems. This leads to an increase in the child's perceived competency in his or her ability to complete similar tasks (Schunk & Pajares, 2005). Bandura (1977) theorized that when individuals see others successfully complete activities in the absence of negative consequences, those individuals believe in their ability to achieve success as well.

Verbal persuasion. A third pathway of influence on cognitive competence was defined by Bandura (1977) as verbal persuasion. It was theorized that parents' verbal and social persuasion, including encouragement and praise, can lead to an increase in the child's perception of cognitive competence (Gonzalez-DeHass, Willems, & Holbein, 2005; Gottfried, Fleming, & Gottfried, 1994; Schunk, 1981). Verbal persuasion is widely used due to its ease and availability (Bandura, 1977). It is important that parents promote children's beliefs in their capabilities, while ensuring that the envisioned success is attainable. Both negative persuasion and not attaining success on an academic task after being told it is within a child's capabilities will weaken a child's perception of cognitive competence (Entwisle & Alexander, 1998; Schunk & Pajares, 2005). Gottfried et al. (1994) concluded that when parents provide verbal encouragement of the child's academic abilities or convey that the child is capable of completing academic tasks, the child's perceived competence of ability to complete academic tasks increases.

Emotion regulation. The final pathway of influence on perceived cognitive competence theorized by Bandura (1977) and others is emotion regulation. Schunk and

Pajares (2005) theorized that involved parents can also help children understand and regulate their emotions and emotional arousal to increase perceived cognitive competence. High emotional arousal is associated with negative thoughts and fears about one's capabilities, leading to lowered perceptions of cognitive competence. Involved parents have a greater understanding of their child's physiological response to specific academic tasks, through direct observations and from information provided by the child's teacher. These parents are able to help their child regulate emotional arousal and deal with anxiety and frustration by teaching and modeling effective breathing and relaxation methods or other calming strategies (Schunk & Pajares, 2005).

Taken together, parents may be able to influence their child's perception of cognitive competence by being actively involved in the child's learning in a number of ways. Specifically, it has been theorized that that parents are able to influence their child's perceptions of competence through four pathways: (a) performance accomplishments/performance mastery, (b) vicarious reinforcement, (c) verbal persuasion, and (d) emotional arousal (Bandura, 1977). Previous studies have shown that a child's increased perception of cognitive competence is predictive of higher performance on academic tasks (Anderson & Adams, 2001; Schunk, 1991). While it appears that perceived cognitive competence may play an important role in understanding the relation between parent involvement and a child's academic performance, this has not been examined in previous research. Therefore, one of the goals of the current study is to examine the child's perceived cognitive competence as a mediator of the relation between parent involvement and a child's academic performance.

The Student-Teacher Relationship

A positive student-teacher relationship is defined in this study as the teacher's perception that his or her relationship with the child is characterized by closeness and a lack of dependency and conflict (Birch & Ladd, 1997). Birch and Ladd (1997) characterized closeness in the relationship as the degree of warmth and open communication between the student and the teacher. Dependency is characterized by children who are "clingy" to the teacher, and over reliant on the teacher as a source of support. Conflict in the student-teacher relationship is represented by the teacher or student becoming angry in the relationship and the degree of friction in student-teacher interactions. Previous research has shown that more positive and closer student-teacher relationships are positively related to a wide range of child social and academic outcomes in school (Hughes, Gleason, & Zhang, 2005). Specifically, a close student-teacher relationship is an important predictor of a child's academic performance (Birch & Ladd, 1997; Hamre & Pianta, 2001).

Hughes, Gleason, and Zhang (2005) examined the teacher report of strength and closeness in the student-teacher relationship. Teachers were asked to rate on a 5-point Likert-type scale their agreement with items like "I enjoy being with this child" and "I find I am able to nurture this child." The findings indicated that increased strength of the student-teacher relationship was significantly related to the child's performance on standardized tests of academic achievement and on teacher ratings of the child's classroom academic performance.

Hamre and Pianta (2001) found that increased conflict and dependency in the student-teacher relationship, as rated by the teacher, was negatively related to classroom grades and achievement test scores for students in grades one through six. The authors concluded that intervention programs in the early grades designed to build supportive student-teacher relationships may enhance school academic outcomes. These findings were replicated in a sample of first grade participants, where a positive and supportive student-teacher relationship, as reported by the teacher, predicted increased achievement test scores among first grade students (Hughes & Kwok, 2007).

Other researchers have also found a relation between the student-teacher relationship and the child's academic performance. Birch and Ladd (1997) found that positive student-teacher relationships, as reported by the teacher, predicted higher language achievement scores in kindergarten. Pianta, Steinberg, and Rollins (1995) examined kindergarten retention and promotion rates of students at high risk for special education and found that the quality of the student-teacher relationship influenced whether the child was retained. Specifically, high-risk students who were not retained had more positive and closer relationships with their teachers compared to high-risk students who were retained in kindergarten.

While current research has focused on the positive effects of student-teacher relationships on students, less is understood about the antecedents of a quality student-teacher relationship (Hill & Craft, 2003). Specifically, few studies have directly investigated the influence of parent involvement on the student-teacher relationship. One unpublished study found that parent involvement led to a strong parent-teacher

relationship, which in turn was the strongest predictor of quality of student-teacher relationships in preschool (Chung, 2001). Other studies have suggested that the effect of parent involvement on the student-teacher relationship be explored in future research.

Hughes, Gleason, and Zhang (2005) examined the relation of parent involvement with the student-teacher relationship and with the child's academic performance in first grade. The study's definition of parent involvement was based on the theory of Kohl, Lengua, and McMahon (2000) and accounted for the frequency and quality of the parent's behaviors, as rated by the child's teacher. Teachers rated the level of support and conflict in their relationship with the child. Academic performance was assessed by examining the child's standardized achievement test scores and by the teacher's ratings of academic performance. The findings indicated a significant relation between parent involvement, the student-teacher relationship, and both measures of academic performance. The authors recommended that future studies explore building of homeschool relationships as a means of increasing the quality of the student-teacher relationship.

Other studies have also found that parent involvement in a child's education positively influences the nature of the student-teacher relationship (Hill, 2003; Stevenson & Baker, 1987). Previous research has demonstrated that the positive view teachers have of a child whose parents are involved may lead to higher scores on teacher-rated measures of academic performance, because the positive student-teacher relationship may make teachers "feel inclined to reward good motives by the child and the family" (Jeynes, 2003, p. 214). Hill (2003) found that the teacher's perception of the importance

parents place on education was positively related to a child's academic skills, as measured by improved scores on a reading performance task. Similarly, Hoover-Dempsey et al. (2002) found that teachers who view a child's parents as being involved consider that child to be capable of higher levels of academic performance than a child whose parents they do not believe to be involved. In addition, teachers who perceive a child's family as cooperative and involved in the child's education tend to treat the child in a more positive manner than they treat other children (Jeynes, 2003). In addition, teachers were more apt to believe that children of highly involved parents were putting forth more effort, compared with children of less-involved parents (Stevenson & Baker, 1987). These studies, while not directly assessing the student-teacher relationship, add evidence that parent involvement influences the teacher, which in turn may influence the relation the teacher has with the child and the child's academic performance.

Present Study

Children's academic performance tends to be relatively stable after early elementary school (Pedersen, Faucher, & Eaton, 1978; Pianta & Steinberg, 1992). It is therefore necessary to investigate variables that improve children's academic performance at a young age, to reduce the likelihood of a child experiencing later academic failure. Parent involvement is one factor that has been consistently related to a child's increased academic performance (Bogenschneider, 1997; Hara & Burke, 1998; Hill & Craft, 2003; Marcon, 1999; McWayne, Hampton, Fantuzzo, Cohen, & Sekino, 2004; Stevenson & Baker, 1987). While this relation between parent involvement and a child's academic performance is well established, studies have yet to examine *how* parent

involvement increases a child's academic performance. Identifying these mechanisms would permit the development of parent involvement programs that specifically target these mechanisms. This in turn would maximize the impact of parent involvement on a child's academic performance in early elementary school, helping more children succeed academically.

The goal of the present study was to test two variables that may mediate, or explain how, parent involvement is related to a child's academic performance, as defined by the child's score on a standardized achievement test and on teacher ratings of the child's classroom academic performance. As noted previously, parent involvement has been defined in numerous ways, mainly based on the objectives and limitations of the individual studies that examine the construct.

Definitions of parent involvement have been based on theories proposed by Epstein (1990, 1996), Grolnick and Slowiaczek (1994), and Kohl, Lengua, and McMahon (2000). The distinction between the activities parents partake in and the attitude parents have towards education was highlighted by several recent studies. Several studies have found that increased frequency of parent involvement is associated with higher levels of child misbehavior in the classroom (Izzo et al., 1999), whereas positive attitudes towards education and towards the child's school have been found to be associated with the child's increased academic performance (Rimm-Kaufman et al., 2003).

Based on these findings, the amount or quantity of parent involvement was not examined in this study, as this type of involvement may not be reflective of a parent's interest in enhancing the child's academic performance. Therefore, parent involvement

was defined in the present study as the teacher's perception of "the positive attitude parents have towards their child's education, teacher, and school" (Webster-Stratton, 1998).

Previous research measuring academic performance in children has primarily used two methods: standardized achievement tests and teacher report of academic performance by rating scales. Both of these methods were used in the current study to provide a more comprehensive assessment of a child's academic performance in early elementary school. Based on conflicting findings in previous research, it is unclear on which measure of academic performance parent involvement has the greater impact.

Based on previous research (Gonzalez-DeHass et al., 2005; Hughes et al., 2005), the present study independently examined whether two possible mechanisms, a child's perception of cognitive competence, as measured by the child's report, and the student-teacher relationship, as measured by the teacher's report, mediate the relation between parent involvement (as measured by the teacher's report) and academic performance (as measured by the child's performance on standardized achievement tests and by the teacher's report of accuracy of classroom academic work). It was predicted that increased parent involvement would increase both a child's perception of cognitive competence and the student-teacher relationship. In turn, perception of cognitive competence and the student teacher relationship would predict the child's increased academic performance.

Several sociodemographic variables have been identified by previous research as influencing academic performance, including the child's IQ, ethnicity, family income,

and mother's level of education. Specifically, previous research has found that the child's ethnicity may alter the strength of the relation between parent involvement and a child's academic performance (Hill, 2001; Stevenson, et al., 1990). This may be due to different ways members of ethnic groups view the role of parents in their child's education and differing expectations parents have for standardized achievement test scores and classroom academic performance. Therefore, the child's ethnicity was examined for its ability to alter the strength, or moderate, the relation between parent involvement and the child's academic performance.

Previous research has demonstrated that a child's IQ accounts for a significant amount of variance of a child's academic performance (Butler, et al., 1985; Naglieri, et al., 2006). Therefore, the present study examined the relation between the child's IQ and the child's academic performance, and controlled for IQ, when this relation was significant. This was done to examine the relation of parent involvement, perceived cognitive competence, and the student teacher relationship on the child's academic performance, independent of the child's IQ.

Finally, previous research has also found that the family's income and mother's level of education are related to a child's academic performance. Therefore, the child's socioeconomic status score, which takes these factors into consideration, was examined for its relation to the child's academic performance. Socioeconomic status was controlled for in the analyses, if this relation was significant. Controlling for socioeconomic status allowed for the examination of the relation of parent involvement,

perceived cognitive competence, and the student-teacher relationship on the child's academic performance, independent of the child's socioeconomic status.

The purpose of the present study was to address the following questions.

Research Question One: Is parent involvement positively related to a child's academic performance?

Based on previous research, it was predicted that higher parent involvement would be related to higher standardized achievement test scores and higher teacher ratings of a child's academic performance (Hill & Craft, 2003; Marcon, 1999; Stevenson & Baker, 1987).

Hypothesis One: Scores on the INVOLVE-T "Parent Involvement in Education" subscale will be positively related to child WIAT-II scores.

Hypothesis Two: Scores on the INVOLVE-T will be positively related to child ratings on the Academic Performance Rating Scale (APRS).

Research Question Two: Is parent involvement positively related to increased perceived cognitive competence?

Based on previous research, it was predicted that higher parent involvement would be positively related to increased perception of cognitive competence (Gonzalez-DeHass et al., 2005; Grolnick, et al., 1991).

Hypothesis Three: Scores on the INVOLVE-T "Parent Involvement in Education" subscale will be positively related to the cognitive competence subscale of the

Pictorial Scale of Perceived Cognitive Competence and Social Acceptance for Young Children.

Research Question Three: Is parent involvement positively related to a positive studentteacher relationship?

Based on previous research, it was predicted that higher parent involvement would be positively related to a stronger student-teacher relationship (Chung, 2001; Hughes, Gleason, & Zhang, 2005).

Hypothesis Four: Scores on the INVOLVE-T "Parent Involvement in Education" subscale will be positively related to the overall positive student-teacher relationship scale on the Student-Teacher Relationship Scale.

Research Question Four: Is a child's perception of cognitive competence positively related to a child's academic performance?

Based on previous research, it was predicted that a child's perceived cognitive competence would be positively related to a child's academic performance, as measured by higher standardized achievement test scores and higher teacher ratings of a child's academic performance (Ladd & Price, 1986; Schunk, 1981; Skinner, Wellborn, & Connell, 1990).

Hypothesis Five: Scores on the cognitive competence subscale of the Pictorial Scale of Perceived Cognitive Competence and Social Acceptance for Young Children will be positively related to a child's WIAT-II scores.

Hypothesis Six: Scores on the cognitive competence subscale of the Pictorial Scale of Perceived Cognitive Competence and Social Acceptance for Young Children will be positively related to teacher ratings on the Academic Performance Rating Scale (APRS).

Research Question Five: Is a positive student-teacher relationship positively related to a child's academic performance?

Based on previous research, it was predicted that the student-teacher relationship would be positively related to a child's academic performance, as measured by higher standardized achievement test scores and higher teacher ratings of a child's academic performance (Birch & Ladd, 1997; Hughes & Kwok, 2007).

Hypothesis Seven: Scores on the overall positive student-teacher relationship scale on the Student-Teacher Relationship Scale will be positively related to child WIAT-II scores.

Hypothesis Eight: Scores on the overall positive student-teacher relationship scale on the Student-Teacher Relationship Scale will significantly predict child ratings on the Academic Performance Rating Scale (APRS).

Research Question Six: Do perception of cognitive competence and the student-teacher relationship mediate the relation between parent involvement and the two measures of academic performance?

It was predicted that when using the Baron and Kenny (1986) test for mediation, both proposed mediators would mediate the relation between parent involvement and standardized achievement scores and teacher report of academic performance. A multiple mediation model was used to examine the unique contribution of each mediator while controlling for the other (MacKinnon, 2000). Multiple mediation analyses, where both mediators are entered simultaneously in the same step of the regression equation, ensure that the two mediators function independently from one another (Preacher & Hayes, 2006). The Sobel test was used to further confirm the effect of the mediator (Sobel, 1982).

Hypothesis Nine: When scores on the cognitive competence subscale of the Pictorial Scale of Perceived Cognitive Competence and Social Acceptance for Young Children and the overall positive student-teacher relationship scale on the Student-Teacher Relationship Scale are both accounted for, the score on the INVOLVE-T "Parent Involvement in Education" subscale will no longer be related to the child's WIAT-II score.

Hypothesis Ten: When scores on the cognitive competence subscale of the Pictorial Scale of Perceived Cognitive Competence and Social Acceptance for Young Children and the overall positive student-teacher relationship scale on the Student-Teacher Relationship Scale are both accounted for, the score on the INVOLVE-T "Parent Involvement in Education" subscale will no longer be related to child's classroom academic performance.

CHAPTER II

METHOD

Participants

Sample

The participants in this study were one hundred and fifty-eight (158) children who, at age seven, participated in the laboratory and school visits. Participants were obtained from three different cohorts participating in a larger ongoing longitudinal study. Four hundred and forty seven (447) participants were initially recruited at two years of age through child care centers, the County Health Department, and the local Women, Infants, and Children program. Further details about the recruitment may be found in Smith, Calkins, Keane, Anastopoulos, and Shelton (2004). Of the original 447 participants, 365 participated at the assessment when the children were five years of age. There were no significant differences in gender, ethnicity, or socioeconomic status between families who did and did not participate at the 5-years of age assessment. The families participating in the present study did not differ from families participating in the larger population at age two or age five on any demographic variable.

Ethnicity. Consistent with the original longitudinal sample, 66.5% of the children (N = 105) were European American, 26.6% of the children were African American (N = 42), seven children (4.4%) were bi-racial, and four children (2.5%) were of another ethnic background.

Socioeconomic status. Socioeconomic status of the participants ranged from lower to upper class as measured by the family's Hollingshead Four Factor Index of Social Status score (Hollingshead, 1975). The index is based on scores assigned to the employed householder's education, occupation, marital status, and sex. Index scores ranged from 8 to 66, with higher scores reflecting higher socioeconomic status.

Consistent with the original longitudinal sample, there were 71 (45%) male child participants and 87 (55%) female child participants. Of the 158 participants, 24 (15.2%) of the mothers had attended some high school or completed high school, 48 (30.4%) had attended some college, 67 (42.4%) had completed college, and 19 (12.0%) earned an advanced degree. Participants in this sample did not differ from participants in the population on these sociodemographic measures.

Measures

Demographic Information Form

Mothers completed a questionnaire during the first laboratory visit updating demographic information, including family income and the level of education attained by the mother (See Appendix A).

Parent Involvement

The Parent-Teacher Involvement Questionnaire (INVOLVE) was used to assess parent involvement (Webster-Stratton, Reid, & Hammond, 2001). Teachers completed the teacher version of the Parent-Teacher Questionnaire (INVOLVE-T) (Webster-Stratton, Reid, & Hammond, 2001) as part of a series of questionnaires collected during the school visit. The INVOLVE-T has good internal consistency and validity for teacher

report of parent involvement (Webster-Stratton et al., 2001). The INVOLVE-T is a twenty-item scale with a 5-point scale answer format. Teachers were asked to rate the frequency of twelve parent behaviors indicating the frequency with which parents engage in school activities indicating how often parents engaged in school activities such as how often the parent had called the teacher and attended parent-teacher conferences.

Response choices ranged from 1 = "Never" to 5 = "More than once per week". Teachers were also asked to rate their level of agreement with the items assessing the parent's attitude towards school such as "How much is this parent interested in getting to know you?" and "If you had a problem with this child how comfortable would you feel talking to his/her parent?" Response choices ranged from 1 = "Not at all" to 5 = "Very much." Higher scores on these items indicated higher parent involvement.

Two subscales of the INVOLVE-T were identified: Parent Involvement in Education and Parent Involvement with Teacher. The "Parent Involvement in Education" subscale included six items and assessed the teacher's perception of the positive attitude parents had towards their child's education, teacher, and school. Reliability for the six items on this subscale is adequate, with alphas ranging from .85 to .93 (Webster-Stratton & Hammond, 1998; Webster-Stratton, 1998). This subscale was used in the present study as the items assessed match this study's definition of involvement. Items on this subscale are displayed in Appendix B.

Student-Teacher Relationship

The Student-Teacher Relationship Scale (STRS) consists of 28 items and was used to measure aspects of the relationship between the student and teacher (Pianta,

2001). Item responses are in a 5-point Likert-style format, ranging from 1 = "Definitely does not apply" to 5 = "Definitely applies" to various aspects of the relationship between the student and the teacher. Specifically, questions in this instrument assess a teacher's feelings about a child, teacher's beliefs about the child's feelings towards the teacher, and the teacher's observation of the child's behavior in relation to the teacher (Pianta & Nimetz, 1991).

The measure yields three subscales: "Conflict," "Closeness," and "Dependency". An overall "Positive Student-Teacher Relationship Scale" is calculated by summing the items on the "Closeness" scale and the reverse-score of the items on the "Conflict" and "Dependency" scales. This scale was used in a previous study of kindergarten children, had adequate reliability ($\alpha = .86$) and was related to standardized mathematics achievement test scores (Graziano et al., 2007).

Perceived competence. The Pictorial Scale of Perceived Competence and Social Acceptance for Young Children (Harter & Pike, 1984) consists of 24 items that measure four domains of self-concept: (a) perceived cognitive competence, (b) perceived physical competence, (c) peer social acceptance, and (d) maternal social acceptance. This measure has adequate reliability and validity (Harter & Pike, 1984; El Hassan, 1999; Strein & Simonson, 1999).

Children are presented with 6 items for each of the 4 domains measured, each depicting a specific skill, action, ability, or activity. Each item consists of a picture of a gender-specific child who is successful and one who is unsuccessful in the specific skill, action, or activity consistent with that domain. Items may include, for example, a child

naming alphabet letters or running in a race. For each item, children are asked to choose the picture that they are most similar to. Children are then asked to indicate whether the pictured child's ability was "really true" or "sort of true" for them. Each item is assigned a score from 1 through 4, with higher scores denoting higher levels of perceived competence.

The cognitive competence scale on the Pictorial Scale of Perceived Competence and Social Acceptance for Young Children (Harter & Pike, 1984) was used in the present study. This scale is related to measures of academic performance and has been used in previous studies examining perceived cognitive competence (Harter & Pike, 1984). Multiple studies have demonstrated that this scale has acceptable validity and reliability (α = .79) for young children (Anderson & Adams, 2001; Alva & Reyes, 1999; Harter & Pike, 1984). For example, Anderson and Adams (2001) found that preschool and kindergarten students were realistic in their self-perceptions of cognitive competence, as higher scores on the cognitive competence subscale were related to three measures of academic readiness obtained from a standardized achievement test. Alva and Reyes (1999) reported that the cognitive competence subscale was the only measured variable that reliably predicted classroom grades as compared to: other subscales of perceived competence, demographic variables, and stressful life events.

For the present study, the mean of the six items on the cognitive competence subscale was used as the measure of the child's self-report of perceived cognitive competence.

Academic Performance

In the current study, composite reading and mathematics scores from a standardized achievement test and teacher ratings of classroom academic performance were used as the two measures of academic performance. The Wechsler Individual Achievement Test-Second Edition (WIAT-II; The Psychological Corporation, 2002) is an individually administered, nationally standardized measure of academic achievement (Sattler, 2001). The measure is reliable and valid and has a mean standard score of 100 and a standard deviation of 15 (Sattler, 2001). The test has normative data for children and young adults between the ages of 5 and 19. Further, experts in reading, math, and other areas have reviewed the items to establish face and content validity (Sattler, 2001).

Previous studies have found the correlation between the WIAT-II and the Full Scale Wechsler IQ scores ranging from .30 to .84, with a median correlation of .58 (Sattler, 2001). Children in the present study were individually administered the three subtests that comprise the Reading Composite (Word Reading, Reading Comprehension, Pseudoword Decoding) and the two subtests that make up the Mathematics Composite (Numerical Operations, and Mathematics Reasoning) by a trained and supervised graduate student examiner. The Word Reading subtest assesses the child's ability on a variety of reading tasks, ranging from matching words beginning or ending with the same sound to pronouncing individual words. The Reading Comprehension subtest contains tasks that asked students to read sentences and passages and answer questions about what they have read. The Pseudoword Decoding subtest asked students to apply their phonetic coding skills to read nonsensical words. The Numerical Operations subtest contains

items assessing skills ranging from writing numbers to solving various mathematical problems. The Mathematics Reasoning subtest assessed the child's mathematical reasoning, such as solving word problems and simple arithmetic problems. Higher scores on these subtests indicate greater achievement. As the current study was interested in examining a more global standardized measure of academic achievement, the Reading and Mathematics composites were combined to form an overall composite of academic achievement. In addition, the Reading and Mathematics composites were related (r = .60, p < .001). Therefore, the mean of the composites was used as the child's standardized achievement score in this study.

The Academic Performance Rating Scale (APRS) (DuPaul & Rapport, 1991) is a 19-item teacher-rated scale that assesses academic performance in the classroom.

Teachers rated the child's academic abilities and behaviors on a 5-point scale, with higher scores indicating greater academic performance in the classroom. Some scale items were based on percentages (e.g., "Estimate the accuracy of completed written language arts work (percent correct of work done)") 1 = 0-64%, 2 = 65-69%, 3 = 70-79%, 4 = 80-89%, and 5 = 90-100%, while others were based on the frequency of a child's behavior (e.g., "How frequently does the student accurately follow teacher instructions and/or class discussion during large-group (whole class) instruction?") 1 = "Never" to 5 = "Very Often." The measure has acceptable internal consistency, including test-retest reliability and criterion-related validity (DuPaul & Rapport, 1991).

The APRS yields three subscales: (a) impulsivity, (b) academic success, and (c) academic productivity. The impulsivity subscale contains three items that assess the

child's impulsive behaviors in the classroom (e.g., "begins written work prior to understanding the directions"). The academic success subscale includes seven items that assess the accuracy of the child's completed work in mathematics, reading, and general academic areas. The academic productivity subscale includes nine items that assess academic behavior, including following directions and completing work in a timely manner.

As the current study focused on academic performance, only items related to the child's actual performance were examined. The principal author and an independent rater identified two items that corresponded to the child's actual classroom academic performance. Inter-rater reliability was 100%. These two items were the teacher's rating of the "accuracy of the child's completed written math work" and the "accuracy of the child's written language arts work". Teachers were asked to estimate the percentage of work in these two subject areas that was correctly completed by the child. These two items were highly correlated (r = .84, p < .001). A mean of the items was used as the measure of classroom academic performance.

Intelligence

The Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children-Third Edition (WISC-III) is a nationally standardized and individually administered measure of general intelligence for children aged 6-16 years (Wechsler, 1991). The test was standardized on a large ethnically and geographically diverse sample of 2,200 participants and exhibited high test-retest reliability and validity (Sattler, 2001). The WISC-III provides three IQ scores (Verbal, Performance, and Full Scale), with a mean of 100 and standard deviation of 15

for each. The WISC-III was used, instead of the WISC-IV, because the newer version of the intelligence test was not available at the start of the data collection when the children were seven-years-old. A trained graduate student clinician individually administered the WISC-III to the child during the first laboratory visit. The Full Scale IQ score was used as a control variable in all analyses in the current study.

Procedure

Mothers of children from the three longitudinal cohorts were contacted by mail and telephone when the children were seven years of age and were asked to participate in a follow-up study. The children's teachers were contacted by telephone following receipt of consent from the child's family, and asked to complete a packet of measures, including a rating form of the parent's involvement and of the child's academic performance.

Participants in the current study (N = 158) represented the subset of these families that completed all of the family measures used in this study and had all of the completed measures from the child's school. Participants with missing responses were excluded from the present study. Data for the present study were collected at several time points and in multiple settings (in the laboratory and at school).

Data were gathered from the child and the child's mother during two visits to the laboratory and from the child's teacher during one visit to the child's school. Families were compensated \$50.00 for each laboratory visit. Mothers were contacted by telephone to schedule the laboratory visits. During the first laboratory visit, mothers provided updated demographic information and were asked for permission to collect data from the child's teacher, including teacher ratings of parent involvement and the child's classroom

academic performance. The child's IQ and academic achievement were assessed in a one-on-one session with a trained graduate student clinician during the first laboratory visits. The graduate student clinician who completed to IQ and achievement testing was not aware of the child's classroom academic performance, the student-teacher relationship, the child's perception of cognitive competence, or the parent's involvement.

During the second laboratory visit, the child's perceived cognitive competence was assessed in a one-on-one session with a trained graduate student researcher. This graduate student researcher was not aware of the child's performance on the IQ test, achievement test, or performance in the classroom. This researcher was also unaware of the parent's involvement in school activities and the teacher's perception of the student-teacher relationship.

Upon receiving the consent from the child's mother, the child's teacher was contacted and asked to complete a packet of questionnaires. The order of the measures in the teacher packets was randomized to minimize rater fatigue and other potential biases. As previously mentioned, two of these measures assessed the mother's involvement in the child's education (INVOLVE-T) and the child's classroom academic performance (APRS). The child's teacher completed these questionnaires during one school visit that occurred either during the fall or spring semester of the school year. This fall school visit occurred several months into the school year to allow the teacher adequate time to become familiar with the child and the child's mother. Teachers who agreed to participate were compensated \$25.00.

Data and Statistics

Prior to data analyses, the child's ethnicity was coded into categorical variables.

As a disproportionately small number of children in this study were bi-racial or from another ethnic background (11 out of 158 children) and could not be considered separately in a comparison of means, two ethnic categories were created: European American and non-European American. A dummy variable was created with European American as the comparison variable (0) due to the higher number of European American students in the study. Non-European American children were coded as a one in the data file.

Moderation Analysis

A moderator is a variable that alters the direction or strength of the relation between a predictor and an outcome (Baron & Kenny, 1986). Specifically, examining moderation allows researchers to address "for whom" a variable most strongly predicts an outcome variable (Frazier, Tix, & Barron, 2004). The choice of a moderating variable should be based on theory and previous research (Frazier et al., 2004). Previous research has found that parent involvement may impact academic performance, as defined by a child's standardized achievement test score and teacher ratings of the child's classroom academic performance, differently depending on the ethnicity of the child (Hill, 2001; Stevenson, et al., 1990). Therefore, to better understand the relation between parent involvement and the child's academic performance, ethnicity was examined as a moderator of this relation in the preliminary analysis. Dummy codes, as previously described, were used in this analysis to represent the two ethnic groups. The continuous

variable of parent involvement was standardized, using a z score, to reduce multicollinearity among the variables and to provide a meaningful mean to interpret potential significant interaction terms (Frazier, et al., 2004). A product term was created to represent the interaction between the standardized predictor (parent involvement) and the moderator (ethnicity).

The effect of a categorical moderator is tested using hierarchical linear regression techniques (Frazier et al., 2004). Variables are entered in the regression equation through a series of specified steps. The first step includes the standardized independent variable and the second step includes the coded moderator variable. The third step includes the product term of the standardized independent variable and the moderator variable.

The *F* test representing stepwise change for the step in which the product term is entered is examined for its significance. If this step is significant, a significant moderator effect exists and warrants creation of representative groups of the predictor variables when predicting the outcome variable. If there is a non-significant finding of the interaction term, the researcher must re-examine the proposed model and determine if there are theoretical reasons to keep the non-significant interaction term in the model (Frazier, Tix, & Barron, 2004).

Mediation Analysis

A mediator is defined as a variable that explains the relation between a predictor variable and an outcome variable (Baron & Kenny, 1986). That is, mediators establish "how" or "why" one variable predicts an outcome and allows researchers to understand the mechanism through which a predictor influences an outcome (Baron & Kenny, 1986).

As with moderators, theory and previous research is used to identify potential mediating variables. The child's perception of cognitive competence and the student-teacher relationship were examined as mediators in the present study. A multiple mediation model was used to examine these variables. Multiple mediation enables the researcher to consider if both potential mediators jointly reduce the direct effect of parent involvement on a child's academic performance (Preacher & Hayes, 2006). Multiple mediation also allows for an understanding of the unique contribution of each individual mediator when the other mediator is controlled for (Preacher & Hayes, 2006).

Baron and Kenny's (1986) test for mediation was used in this study. According to this test, four regression analyses are performed to test each potential mediator. Baron and Kenny (1986) state that the first regression must show that the independent variable (parent involvement) affects the mediator (child's perception of cognitive competence/student-teacher relationship). The second regression must show that the independent variable (parent involvement) affects the dependent variable (standardized achievement score/classroom academic performance score). The third regression must show that the mediator (child's perception of cognitive competence/quality of the student-teacher relationship) affects the dependent variable (standardized achievement score/classroom academic performance score). For full multiple mediation, the fourth regression must show that after controlling for both mediators (child's perception of cognitive competence and student-teacher relationship), the independent variable (parent involvement) is no longer a significant predictor of the dependent variable (standardized achievement test score/classroom academic performance). Baron and Kenny (1986) state

that full mediation exists if the independent variable (parent involvement) has no effect when the mediators (child's perception of cognitive competence and student-teacher relationship) are entered into the model. Partial mediation exists if the effect of the independent variable on the dependent variable is reduced, but still significant, when the mediators are controlled (Baron & Kenny, 1986). In addition, variables that are considered co-variates must be controlled for in all of the regression equations.

The mediation was also tested by examining the reduction of the effect of the independent variable (parent involvement) on the dependent variable (standardized achievement test score/classroom academic performance), after accounting for the mediating variable (child's perception of cognitive competence/student-teacher relationship). The Sobel (1982) test is a single test that is recommended to conservatively test this reduction by the mediator (MacKinnon, Lockwood, Hoffman, West, & Sheets, 2002). The Sobel (1982) test divides the effect of the mediator by its standard error. This term is compared to a standard normal distribution to test for significance (MacKinnon et al., 2002).

CHAPTER III

RESULTS

Preliminary Analyses

Descriptive Statistics

Preliminary analyses were conducted to examine the statistical properties of the variables of interest (parent involvement, perceived cognitive competence, student-teacher relationship, and academic performance) and of the demographic variables of ethnicity and socioeconomic status. Means and standard deviations of the measures used in this study are presented in Table 1. It was determined that skewness or kurtosis absolute values greater than 1.5 represented problematic deviations from normal distribution (Lomax, 2001). The absolute value of the skewness of all predictor and outcome variables ranged from .06 to 1.40 and absolute values of kurtosis ranged from .09 to 1.37. Given the robustness against non-normality of the statistical tests used, these values do not represent significant deviations from normal distribution.

Reliability Analyses

Cronbach's alpha scores were calculated for the subscales used in this study to examine internal reliability of the scale items for the present sample. The Cronbach's alpha for the six items on the "Parent Involvement in Education" subscale on the INVOLVE-T in the current study is $\alpha = .91$, indicating good internal consistency. Likewise, the reliability of the 28 items on the "Positive Student-Teacher Relationship

Scale" on the Student-Teacher Relationship Scale and the six items of the cognitive competence subscale on the Pictorial Scale of Perceived Competence and Social Acceptance for Young Children was adequate (Cronbach's alpha α = .86 and .80, respectively).

Bivariate Correlations

The relation between parent involvement, the proposed mediators of perceived cognitive competence and the student-teacher relationship, and the measures of academic performance (standardized achievement test scores and classroom academic performance) were examined. Bivariate correlations between the variables of interest and demographic variables are presented in Table 2.

Demographic Variables

The relation between the child's IQ, ethnicity, and the family's socioeconomic status with the predictor and outcome measures was examined to determine which variables were significantly related to each other.

Full-Scale IQ score. The child's Full-Scale IQ score, as measured by the WISC-III, was significantly related to the child's standardized achievement test score (r = .68, p < .001), to the child's classroom academic performance (r = .47, p < .001), and to parent involvement (r = .39, p < .001). These results indicated that as the child's Full-Scale IQ increased, so did parent involvement and academic performance as measured by both the child's standardized achievement test score and the child's classroom academic performance. Given these significant findings, the child's Full-Scale IQ score was examined as a control variable in the analyses addressing the research questions.

The child's Full-Scale IQ score was also significantly related to the proposed mediators of perceived cognitive competence (r = .34, p < .001) and the student-teacher relationship (r = .20, p < .05). These results indicated that as the child's Full-Scale IQ score increased, so did the child's perception of cognitive competence and the teacher's perception of a positive student-teacher relationship.

Finally, there was also a significant positive correlation between the child's Full-Scale IQ score and the family's socioeconomic status (r = .42, p < .001). This result indicated that as the child's Full-Scale IQ score increased, so did the family's socioeconomic status.

Family socioeconomic status. As reported above, there was a significant positive correlation between family socioeconomic status and the child's Full-Scale IQ score. In addition, there was a significant positive correlation between family socioeconomic status and: the child's standardized achievement test score (r = .31, p < .001); parent involvement (r = .26, p < .01); the child's academic performance in the classroom (r = .24, p < .01); and the perception of cognitive competence (r = .17, p < .05). These results indicated that as family socioeconomic status increased, so did academic performance as measured by the child's standardized achievement test score, parent involvement, the child's academic performance in the classroom, and the child's perception of cognitive competence. Socioeconomic status was not significantly related to the student-teacher relationship (r = .04, p < .61). Given these significant findings, socioeconomic status was examined as a control variable in the analyses addressing the research questions.

Ethnicity. A disproportionately small number of children in this study were biracial or from another ethnic background (11 out of 158 children) and could not be considered separately in a comparison of means. Therefore, children were split into two groups based on ethnicity: European American (105 children) and non-European American (53 children).

As shown in Table 3, an independent t-test was conducted to evaluate if parent involvement differed based upon ethnicity. The test was significant t(156) = 2.98, p < .01, indicating that teachers reported that European American (M = 4.18) parents had higher scores on the INVOLVE-T than non-European American parents (M = 3.76). The Levene's test for equality of variances was not significant (F(156) = .11, p = .74), indicating that the two groups exhibited similar amounts of variance.

As shown in Table 3, an independent t-test was conducted to evaluate if standardized achievement test scores differed based upon ethnicity. The test was not significant t(156) = 1.73, p = .09. This indicates that there was no significant difference between the standardized achievement test scores between European American (M = 109.53) children and non-European American parents (M = 105.25). Levene's test for equality of variances was not significant (F(156) = 2.32, p = .13).

As shown in Table 3, an independent t-test was conducted to evaluate if the child's classroom academic performance differed based upon ethnicity. The test was significant t(79.22) = 2.41, p < .05, indicating that teachers reported that European American (M = 4.49) children had better classroom academic performance than non-European American children (M = 4.03). The Levene's test for equality of variances was

significant (F(79.22) = 13.56, p < .001). This finding indicates that the variance within the two groups was unequal, making it more difficult to find significant results if the two groups did differ significantly.

Given these significant findings and previous research findings (Hill, 2001; Stevenson, et al., 1990) that indicate that ethnicity may affect the relation between parent involvement and academic performance, ethnicity was examined as a moderator of the relation between parent involvement and both measures of a child's academic performance.

Independent and Dependent Variables

Parent Involvement

As shown in Table 2, there were significant positive correlations between parent involvement and the student-teacher relationship (r = .48, p < .001); and parent involvement and the child's perception of cognitive competence (r = .31, p < .001). These results indicated that higher parent involvement was associated with higher teacher perception of a positive student-teacher relationship and higher child perception of cognitive competence.

As shown in Table 2, there were significant positive correlations between parent involvement and the child's standardized achievement test score (r = .43, p < .001); and parent involvement and the child's classroom academic performance (r = .35, p < .001). These results indicate that as parent involvement increased, the child's academic performance, as measured by standardized achievement test score and teacher ratings of the child's classroom academic performance, increased.

Perceived Cognitive Competence

As shown in Table 2, there were significant positive correlations between perceived cognitive competence and the child's standardized achievement test score (r = .54, p < .001); perceived cognitive competence and the child's classroom academic performance (r = .24, p < .01); perceived cognitive competence and the student-teacher relationship (r = .20, p < .05). These results indicated that as a child's perceived cognitive competence increased, so did the child's academic performance as measured by the child's standardized achievement test score and the teacher's ratings of the child's classroom academic performance. In addition, as a child's perceived cognitive competence increased, so did the teacher's perception of a positive student-teacher relationship.

Student-Teacher Relationship

As shown in Table 2, there were significant positive correlations between the student-teacher relationship and: parent involvement (r = .48, p < .001); the child's classroom academic performance (r = .38, p < .001); the child's standardized achievement test score (r = .26, p < .01); and the child's perceived cognitive competence (r = .20, p < .05). These results indicated that as the teacher's perception of a positive student-teacher relationship increased, so did parent involvement, the child's academic performance as measured by standardized achievement test score and classroom academic performance, and the child's perception of cognitive competence.

Research Question One

Research question one asked whether parent involvement would positively predict a child's academic performance. Two hypotheses were developed to answer this research question.

Hypothesis One

Hypothesis one proposed that parent involvement as measured by scores on the INVOLVE-T "Parent Involvement in Education" subscale would predict a child's WIAT-II achievement test score. Given past research findings and theoretical reasoning, ethnicity was considered as a moderator of the relation between parent involvement and the child's WIAT-II score.

The effect of the moderator was tested using hierarchical linear regression techniques (Frazier, Tix, & Barron, 2004). As shown in Table 4, neither ethnicity nor the interaction of ethnicity and parent involvement were significant predictors of the child's WIAT-II score.

Given the significant correlation of the child's Full-Scale IQ and the family's socioeconomic status with the WIAT-II scores, these two variables were controlled for in the hierarchical linear regression analyses. As shown in Table 5, the child's Full-Scale IQ score was a significant predictor of the child's WIAT-II score (β = .60, p < .001). Therefore, the child's Full Scale IQ score was controlled for in future analyses predicting the child's WIAT-II score. The family's socioeconomic status was not a significant predictor of the child's WIAT-II score (β = .01. p = .88), after controlling for the child's IQ. Given this non-significant finding, the family's socioeconomic status was not

controlled for in further analyses predicting the child's WIAT-II score. As shown in Table 5, parent involvement was a significant predictor of the child's WIAT-II score F(3, 154) change = 9.88, p < .01, $\beta = .20$. In addition, the residuals of the regression were examined to detect violations in normality, and non-normality was not detected. These results showed that parent involvement was a significant predictor of the child's WIAT-II score, over and above the variance accounted for by the child's IQ and the family's socioeconomic status. Hypothesis one was supported.

Hypothesis Two

Hypothesis two proposed that parent involvement as measured by scores on the INVOLVE-T "Parent Involvement in Education" subscale would predict teacher ratings of a child's classroom academic performance (APRS). Given past research findings and theoretical reasoning, ethnicity was considered as a moderator of the relation between parent involvement and the child's classroom performance.

The effect of the moderator was tested using hierarchical linear regression techniques (Frazier et al, 2004). As shown in Table 6, neither ethnicity nor the interaction of ethnicity and parent involvement were significant predictors of the child's WIAT-II score.

Given the significant correlation of the child's Full-Scale IQ and the family's socioeconomic status with the WIAT-II scores, these two variables were controlled for in the hierarchical linear regression analyses. As shown in Table 7, the child's Full-Scale IQ score was a significant predictor of the child's classroom academic performance (β = .38, p < .001), but socioeconomic status was not a significant predictor (β = .03. p = .68).

Therefore, given these results, the child's Full-Scale IQ score was controlled for in further analyses, while the family's socioeconomic status was not controlled for in further analyses. As shown in Table 7, parent involvement was a significant predictor of the child's classroom academic performance, F(3, 154) change = 6.68, p < .05, $\beta = .20$. In addition, the residuals of the regression were examined to detect violations in normality, and non-normality was not detected. These results showed that parent involvement was a significant predictor of the teacher's rating of the child's academic performance in the classroom, over and above the variance accounted for by the child's IQ and the family's socioeconomic status. Hypothesis two was supported.

Research Question Two

Research question two asked whether parent involvement would positively predict a child's perception of cognitive competence. One hypothesis was developed to answer this research question.

Hypothesis Three

Hypothesis three proposed that parent involvement as measured by scores on the INVOLVE-T "Parent Involvement in Education" subscale would predict the child's perception of cognitive competence as measured by the cognitive competence subscale of the Pictorial Scale of Perceived Cognitive Competence and Social Acceptance for Young Children. A hierarchical linear regression analysis was conducted, with the child's Full-Scale IQ entered in the first step. As shown in Table 8, parent involvement was a significant predictor of the child's perception of cognitive competence ($\beta = .21, p < .01$). These results showed that parent involvement was a significant predictor of a child's

perception of cognitive competence, over and above the variance accounted for by the child's IQ. Hypothesis three was supported.

Research Question Three

Research question three asked whether parent involvement would positively predict a positive student-teacher relationship. One hypothesis was developed to answer this research question.

Hypothesis Four

Hypothesis four proposed that parent involvement as measured by scores on the INVOLVE-T "Parent Involvement in Education" subscale would predict a positive student-teacher relationship, as measured by teacher ratings on the Student Teacher Relationship Scale. A hierarchical linear regression analysis was conducted, with the child's Full-Scale IQ entered in the first step. As shown in Table 8, parent involvement was a significant predictor of the student-teacher relationship (β = .47, p < .001). These results showed that parent involvement was a significant predictor of the student-teacher relationship, over and above the variance accounted for by the child's IQ. Hypothesis four was supported.

Research Question Four

Research question four asked whether a child's perception of cognitive competence would positively predict a child's academic performance. Two hypotheses were developed to answer this research question.

Hypothesis Five

Hypothesis five proposed that a child's perception of cognitive competence, as measured by the mean of the items on the cognitive competence subscale of the Pictorial Scale of Perceived Cognitive Competence and Social Acceptance for Young Children, would predict the child's WIAT-II score. A hierarchical linear regression analysis was conducted, with the child's Full-Scale IQ entered in the first step. As shown in Table 9, a child's perceived cognitive competence was a significant predictor of the child's WIAT-II score ($\beta = .35$, p < .001). These results showed that a child's perceived cognitive competence was a significant predictor of the child's WIAT-II score, over and above the variance accounted for by the child's IQ. Hypothesis five was supported.

Hypothesis Six

Hypothesis six proposed that a child's perception of cognitive competence, as measured by the mean of the items on the cognitive competence subscale of the Pictorial Scale of Perceived Cognitive Competence and Social Acceptance for Young Children, would predict teacher ratings of the child's classroom academic performance. A hierarchical linear regression analysis was conducted, with the child's Full-Scale IQ entered in the first step. As shown in Table 9, a child's perceived cognitive competence was not a significant predictor of the child's classroom academic performance (β = .09, p = .23). These results showed that a child's perceived cognitive competence was not a significant predictor of the child's classroom academic performance, and could not be considered a mediator of the relation between parent involvement and a child's classroom academic performance. Hypothesis six was not supported.

Research Question Five

Research question five asked whether a positive student-teacher relationship would positively predict a child's academic performance. Two hypotheses were developed to answer this research question.

Hypothesis Seven

Hypothesis seven proposed that a positive student-teacher relationship would predict a child's WIAT-II score. A hierarchical linear regression analysis was conducted, with the child's Full-Scale IQ entered in the first step. As shown in Table 10, the student-teacher relationship was a significant predictor of the child's WIAT-II score (β = .13, p < .05). These results showed that the student-teacher relationship was a significant predictor of the child's standardized achievement test score, over and above the variance accounted for by the child's IQ. Hypothesis seven was supported.

Hypothesis Eight

Hypothesis eight proposed that a positive student-teacher relationship would predict the teacher's ratings of a child's classroom academic performance. A hierarchical linear regression analysis was conducted, with the child's Full-Scale IQ entered in the first step. As shown in Table 10, the student-teacher relationship was a significant predictor of the child's classroom academic performance (β = .30, p < .001). These results showed that the student-teacher relationship was a significant predictor of the child's classroom academic performance, over and above the variance accounted for by the child's IQ. Hypothesis eight was supported.

Research Question Six

Research question six asked whether the child's perceived cognitive competence and a positive student-teacher relationship would mediate the relation between parent involvement and a child's academic performance. Two hypotheses were developed to answer this research question.

Hypothesis Nine

When scores on the cognitive competence subscale of the Pictorial Scale of Perceived Cognitive Competence and Social Acceptance for Young Children and the overall positive student-teacher relationship scale on the Student-Teacher Relationship Scale jointly predict a child's WIAT-II score, the score on the INVOLVE-T "Parent Involvement in Education" subscale will no longer significantly predict a child's WIAT-II score.

A hierarchical linear regression analysis was conducted according to the Baron and Kenny (1986) test for mediation. The child's Full-Scale IQ score was entered in the first step, the child's perceived cognitive competence and the student-teacher relationship were entered in the second step, and the teacher report of parent involvement was entered in the third step. As shown in Table 11, parent involvement was no longer a significant predictor of a child's WIAT-II score when the child's cognitive competence and the student-teacher relationship were accounted for in the analyses ($\beta = .11$, p = .08). Further analysis of the multiple mediation model indicated that only perceived cognitive competence uniquely predicted a child's WIAT-II scores ($\beta = .32$, p < .001). The Sobel test further confirmed the effect of perceived cognitive competence as an independent

mediator (Test statistic = 2.50, p < .05) (Sobel, 1982). Hypothesis nine was partially supported in that the child's perceived cognitive competence mediated the relation between parent involvement and a child's WIAT-II score, but the student-teacher relationship was not a significant mediator of this relation.

Hypothesis Ten

When scores on the cognitive competence subscale of the Pictorial Scale of Perceived Cognitive Competence and Social Acceptance for Young Children and the overall positive student-teacher relationship scale on the Student-Teacher Relationship Scale jointly predict teacher ratings of a child's classroom academic performance, the score on the INVOLVE-T "Parent Involvement in Education" subscale will no longer significantly predict teacher ratings of a child's classroom academic performance.

A hierarchical linear regression analysis was conducted according to the Baron and Kenny (1986) test for mediation. The child's perceived cognitive competence was not examined as a mediator, as it was not a significant predictor of a child's classroom academic performance. The child's Full-Scale IQ score was entered in the first step, the student-teacher relationship was entered in the second step, and the teacher report of parent involvement was entered in the third step.

As shown in Table 11, parent involvement was no longer a significant predictor of a child's classroom academic performance when the student-teacher relationship was accounted for in the analyses (β = .07, p = .36). The Sobel test further confirmed the effect of the mediator (Test statistic = 1.90, p = .05) (Sobel, 1982). Hypothesis ten was partially supported in that the student-teacher relationship mediated the relation between

parent involvement and a child's classroom academic performance, but the child's perceived cognitive competence was not a mediator of this relation.

CHAPTER IV

DISCUSSION

The purpose of the present study was to examine a child's perceived cognitive competence and the quality of the student-teacher relationship to explain the relation between parent involvement and a child's academic performance. Previous research has found that parent involvement is associated with a child's higher academic performance in early elementary school (Bogenschneider, 1997; Hara & Burke, 1998; Hill & Craft, 2003; Marcon, 1999; McWayne et al., 2004; Miedel & Reynolds, 1999; Stevenson & Baker, 1987). Specifically, higher levels of parent involvement are related to higher academic performance. However, research has yet to examine how parent involvement is related to increases in a child's academic performance. Previous researchers have identified several mechanisms that are related to both parent involvement and a child's academic performance, and may explain how parent involvement is related to a child's academic performance: a child's perception of cognitive competence (Chapman, Skinner, & Baltes, 1990; Gonzalez-DeHass, Willems, & Holbein, 2005; Grolnick et al., 1991; Ladd & Price, 1986; Schunk, 1981; Skinner, Chapman, & Baltes, 1988a) and the studentteacher relationship (Birch & Ladd, 1997; Hamre & Pianta, 2001; Hughes, Gleason, & Zhang, 2005). The aim of this study was to investigate these two potential mechanisms (perceived cognitive competence and the student-teacher relationship), which may explain the relation between parent involvement and a child's academic performance.

Relation Between Parent Involvement and Academic Performance

The findings from the present study demonstrated that parent involvement, defined as the teacher's perception of the positive attitude parents have toward their child's education, teacher, and school, was significantly related to increased academic performance, based both on an objective standardized measure of performance and on teacher ratings of the child's classroom academic performance. That is, higher parent involvement was associated with the child's increased academic performance on both a standardized achievement test and teacher ratings of academic performance. This finding further adds to existing research that found an association between parent involvement and a child's academic performance.

Further, parent involvement was significantly related to academic performance, above and beyond the impact of the child's intelligence. Child intelligence was not accounted for in previous studies examining parent involvement and academic performance. Not accounting for child intelligence when predicting academic performance is a limitation of previous studies, as children with higher IQ perform higher on measures of academic performance, regardless of the level of parent involvement. In addition, it may be that parents with higher IQ have children with higher IQs and this may explain this relation. A strength of the current study is that IQ was accounted for and the findings indicated that while child IQ is significantly related to academic performance, it does not solely account for the relation between parent involvement and the child's academic performance.

The current study also examined ethnicity as a moderator of the relation between parent involvement and the measures of the child's academic performance. Results showed that parent involvement was associated with increased academic performance for both European American children and non-European American children. While this is inconsistent with some previous research (Kohl, et al., 2000; Stevenson, Chen, & Uttal, 1990), the present study defined parent involvement as the teacher's perception of the parent's attitude. Most previous studies examining the impact of ethnicity looked at parent behaviors, rather than attitude. This study extends work examining the influence of ethnicity when considering parent involvement to be an attitude. It may be the case that ethnicity is related to parent behaviors, but unrelated to the parent's attitudes toward the child's education, teacher, and school.

Relation Between Parent Involvement and Perceived Cognitive Competence

Findings from the present study demonstrated that parent involvement is significantly related to a child's perception of cognitive competence. That is, increased parent involvement was related to increased perception of cognitive competence. This finding is consistent with those of previous studies (Gonzalez-DeHass, Willems, & Holbein, 2005; Grolnick, Ryan, & Deci, 1991). There are several theoretical pathways by which parents may influence their child's perception of cognitive competence. While validating these pathways was outside the scope of the present study, it is conceivable that parent involvement may influence the child's perception of cognitive competence by means described by Bandura (1977). Parents who positively view the child's education may be more willing to set up personal mastery experiences for their child. They may be

more likely to provide a positive, relaxing environment in which their child can learn to solve academic problems. Involved parents may also provide more verbal persuasion and encouragement to their child, thus boosting perceived cognitive competence. Finally, parents who are more involved may also be able to help their child lower emotional arousal and the child's fears about being able to complete the problem. Future studies may investigate these individual pathways, with the goal of understanding how parent involvement increases a child's cognitive competence.

Findings from the present study demonstrated that parent involvement was significantly related to the quality of the student-teacher relationship. The more positively the parent is perceived as viewing the child's education, the more the student-teacher relationship is characterized by closeness and lacking in conflict and dependency.

Relation Between Parent Involvement and the Student-Teacher Relationship

This is consistent with the findings of previous research (Hill, 2003; Stevenson & Baker, 1987). This finding speaks to the importance of the parent's attitude toward education and the relation this has on the student-teacher relationship. Teachers may feel more inclined to and invested in building a positive relationship with the child if they perceive the parent as valuing the teacher and the child's education.

Relation Between Perceived Cognitive Competence and Academic Performance

Findings from the present study demonstrated that perceived cognitive competence was related to a child's academic performance on a standardized achievement test. That is, increased perceived cognitive competence was related to higher achievement test scores. This finding is consistent with previous research and

theory (Chapman, Skinner, & Baltes, 1990; Ladd & Price, 1986; Schunk, 1981; Skinner, Chapman, & Baltes, 1988a). Children with increased perception of cognitive competence expend greater effort on academic tasks, persist longer when completing these tasks, and achieve more than children who doubt their abilities (Schunk, 1991).

However, increased perception of cognitive competence was not significantly related to teacher ratings of academic performance. There may be several reasons for this finding. First, the tasks children feel competent in completing may not be related to actual tasks that children are asked to complete in the classroom. Instead, the tasks the children feel competent in completing appear to be more consistent with those assessed by a standardized achievement test.

In addition, previous research did not examine the relation between perceived cognitive competence and teacher ratings of classroom academic performance. Previous studies largely focused on academic performance as defined by classroom test scores and standardized achievement test scores. Therefore, it may be the case that teacher ratings of academic performance are not related to the child's perception of cognitive competence. Finally, it may also be the case that teacher ratings of academic performance are in part based on other variables that are external to the child's actual functioning. For instance, findings in the present study indicate that parent involvement is related to both the teacher's ratings of the child's academic performance and the nature of the student-teacher relationship. Therefore, teacher ratings may include influences other than the child's perceived, or perhaps actual, abilities, while standardized achievement tests may provide a more valid measure of the child's abilities.

Relation Between Student-Teacher Relationship and Academic Performance

Findings from the present study demonstrated that the quality of the studentteacher relationship was significantly related to the child's academic performance. Increased closeness and lower levels of conflict and dependence in the student-teacher relationship were related to the child's increased performance on a standardized achievement test and the child's classroom academic performance. These findings highlight the importance of the relationship the teacher has with the child, as related to the teacher ratings of a child's academic performance. Teachers who have more positive relationships with a child may take extra care to ensure that the child understands the academic material. The teacher may also be able to identify children who are have mastered the academic tasks in the classroom and provide them with additional academic exercises to further increase their knowledge. It may also be the case the teacher holds inherent biases about the child. For instance, teacher ratings may reflect an acknowledgement by the teacher of the parent's efforts. Teacher ratings of a child's academic performance may also be influenced by several other variables, including the child's academic performance in other disciplines ("halo effect"), the average performance of the class in the discipline (class context effect), and individual characteristics of the child, including whether the child has repeated a grade (Dompnier, Pansu, & Bressoux, 2006).

Perceived Cognitive Competence and the Student-Teacher Relationship as Mediators of the Relation Between Parent Involvement and Academic Performance

The sixth research question examined the ability of perceived cognitive competence and the student-teacher relationship to jointly mediate the relation between parent involvement and academic performance. When examined as simultaneous mediators, there was evidence from the current study that perceived cognitive competence fully mediated the relation between parent involvement and the child's standardized achievement test score, over and above the influence of the student-teacher relationship. It may be the case that the variance of the relation between parent involvement and achievement test score is already explained by the child's perception of cognitive competence. This finding suggests that parent involvement is related to the child performance on standardized achievement tests and this relation is explained in part by the child's perception of cognitive competence. This is one of the first studies to examine a mechanism by which parent involvement is related to a child's performance on a standardized achievement test. Two statistical techniques to test for mediation were also used, further confirming the findings.

In addition, there was evidence from the current study that the student-teacher relationship was a mediator of the relation between parent involvement and teacher ratings of the child's classroom academic performance. Results showed that perceived cognitive competence was not significantly related to the child's classroom academic performance. The student-teacher relationship was a full mediator of the relation between parent involvement and classroom academic performance, as parent involvement

was no longer a significant predictor of classroom academic performance when the student-teacher relationship was accounted for. This is one of the first studies to examine a mechanism by which parent involvement is related to teacher ratings of a child's classroom academic performance.

Summary of Findings

This study yielded several important findings. All results controlled for child IQ, which is a significant contribution to the literature, as most studies do not consider the contribution of child intelligence when examining the child's academic performance. Results indicated that parent involvement was significantly positively associated with academic performance, as measured by both standardized achievement test scores and by teacher ratings of classroom academic performance. Further, parent involvement was positively associated with a child's increased perception of competence in completing cognitive tasks and a positive student-teacher relationship. Perceived cognitive competence was positively associated with a child's standardized achievement test score, but not with teacher ratings of a child's classroom academic performance. There was a significant relation between the student-teacher relationship and the child's performance on a standardized achievement test and between the student-teacher relationship and teacher ratings of the child's classroom academic performance.

Finally, results showed that when examined as multiple mediators, both perceived cognitive competence and the student-teacher relationship fully mediated the relation between parent involvement and a child's classroom academic performance. Further examination showed that only perceived cognitive competence was a significant mediator

after accounting for the student-teacher relationship. The student-teacher relationship fully mediated the relation between parent involvement and teacher ratings of the child's classroom academic performance.

Limitations

Although this study had many strengths, the results of the present study are tempered by a consideration of several methodological limitations. One limitation was the measurement of the variables of interest. Little psychometric data were available for the measures of parent involvement and the teacher's ratings of the student teacher relationship and of the child's classroom academic performance. Despite this, the alphas of the current sample were adequate.

In addition, all the children were all from a southeastern United States city and were potentially influenced by the culture of the location. Data collection from locations around the United States or around the world may have provided more information about the importance schools and families place on involvement and how that varies across cultures. Furthermore, as the majority of the data were from European American and African American families, this may have influenced the results and reduced the generalizability of the findings. In addition, the children in this study were seven years old, and the results may not generalize to older children.

A third limitation was that there were several time points and several settings at which data were collected. This increased the opportunities for families and teachers to not participate in a visit and not complete all of the necessary measures. These factors increased the likelihood of not having complete data sets for all children and children

with incomplete data sets were excluded from this study. While children in the present study were similar to the sample population in many demographic characteristics, it may be that the families with complete data were more invested in the research study, which may be indicative of more investment in the child's development.

A fourth limitation was that the mean scores of several of the variables were positively skewed relative to a normal population. For instance, the mean of the WISC-III for the participants of this study was 108, whereas the population mean was 100.

Finally, the child's teacher was the reporter for several of the measures. These included the measures of parent involvement, quality of the student-teacher relationship, and the child's classroom academic performance. As several of the research questions examined the relation between these measures, it may be that some teachers have a bias toward the student or toward the parent which may have influenced the teacher's responses on all of the measures completed for that child. This may have lead to artificially high relations between these teacher-report measures.

Future Research Directions

Despite these limitations, the findings of this study generate several directions for future research. There appears to be a need for additional valid and reliable instruments to assess parent involvement, teacher ratings of academic performance, and the student-teacher relationship. Few measures are currently available to measure these constructs. This may be partly due to multiple ways these constructs are operationalized. As previously noted, multiple conceptualizations exist for parent involvement and few measures currently exist that are consistent with these conceptualizations. For instance, a

recent distinction has emerged between the frequency of parent involvement behaviors and the attitudes parents have toward education (Rimm-Kaufman et al., 2003).

Assessment tools are needed to better understand how these dimensions are related to the child's academic performance and to other outcomes, such as the student-teacher relationship and the child's classroom behavior. For instance, it may the case that the frequency of certain parent involvement behaviors are in reaction to a child's disruptive behavior in the classroom while others are positively related to the child's increased academic performance.

Given the relation between parent involvement and the child's perception of cognitive competence, the relation between parent involvement and other areas of competence should be explored. While not related to a child's academic performance, the child's performance in other domains may be related to the child's perceived competence in each domain. The Pictorial Scale of Perceived Competence and Social Acceptance for Young Children (Harter & Pike, 1984) also assesses for perceived physical competence, peer social acceptance, and maternal social acceptance. Future studies should explore the relation parent involvement has with each of these competencies and methods to increase competence in each of these domains can be examined. Once factors are identified, empirically based school programs can be developed and validated that may bolster a child's perception of competency in these domains, which may in turn lead to increased performance in each domain.

In addition, future studies should investigate the relation of parent involvement and a variety of social outcomes. These outcomes might include increasing a child's

social standing in the classroom and number and quality of a child's close friendships in the classroom. Future studies could also examine the impact increased parent involvement has on a variety of other peer behaviors, including sharing and fighting in the classroom. Mechanisms explaining how parent involvement is related to these outcomes could also be examined. Perhaps parents who have a positive attitude toward the child's school also have positive feelings about the child establishing friendships among peers.

Promoting increased parent involvement can also be examined for its ability to prevent or buffer against the development of externalizing or internalizing psychological symptoms. That is, if parents are more involved in their child's education, they will be able to better understand their child's psychological functioning and perhaps be better able to intervene if a difficulty arises. Preliminary analyses in the current study did not support additional examination of these issues, but future studies should continue to consider them.

The possibility of bidirectional relations among parent involvement, perceived competence, and academic performance also needs to be explored. Longitudinal studies tracking children over extended periods of time would allow for a better understanding of how these variables interact with each other over time. For instance, among older children, perhaps increased perception of competence and higher academic performance may lead to increased parent involvement, as opposed to parent involvement leading to increased academic performance for younger children.

The relation between child IQ and the outcomes of interest should continue to be accounted for in future studies. Given the importance of IQ when predicting a child's academic success, it is important to account for IQ when predicting academic performance to ensure that the independent variable of interest impacts academic performance above and beyond the effect of the child's intelligence. Studies that do not account for the child's IQ may produce misleading results. These findings from other studies may then inform future public policy initiatives, leading to the development of ineffective and potentially harmful school interventions.

Furthermore, future research should examine parent involvement behaviors across cultures to determine how the conceptualization of parent involvement changes according to cultural needs and expectations and how this may impact the relation of parent involvement to academic performance. For instance, previous research noted that there may be differences in the way European American families and African American families view the role of parents and the role of the teacher and the school in educating their child (Hill, 2001; Stevenson, Chen, & Uttal, 1990). These potential differences should continue to be explored and extended to other ethnic groups including Hispanic Americans and Asian Americans. While preliminary analyses in the current study did not support differences based on gender, gender should continue to be examined in future studies examining parent involvement and academic performance.

Public Policy Implications

There are several public policy recommendations and initiatives that follow from the results of the present study. School administrators and policymakers should continue to investigate ways to increase a parent's positive attitude about their child's education and schooling and demonstrate to parents that their attitude is related to their child's academic performance. School administrators should also work to consider ways to improve the relationship between the teacher and the student, given the important relation between the student-teacher relationship and the child's academic performance.

Therefore school administrators may set aside time in the curriculum for team building exercises between the student and the teacher, or perhaps activities that include the parent, the student, and the teacher.

Finally, school administrators and policy makers should consider the impact of ethnicity and socioeconomic status differences when developing parent involvement programs. While parent involvement was found in the current study to be related to a child's academic performance, over and above the impact of the child's ethnicity or socioeconomic background, ethnicity and socioeconomic status may still play a role in determining the access parents have to school programs, the role parents are expected to play in a child's education, and the relationship parents may have with the child's teacher.

REFERENCES

- Abdul-Adil, J. K., & Farmer, A. D. (2006). Inner-city African American parental involvement in elementary schools: Getting beyond urban legends of apathy. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 21, 1-12.
- Adams, G. R., Ryan, B. A., Ketsetzis, M., & Keating, L. (2000). Rule compliance and peer sociability: A study of family process, school-focused parent-child interactions, and children's classroom behavior. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 14, 237-250.
- Adams, K. S., & Christenson, S. L. (2000). Trust and the family-school relationship examination of parent-teacher differences in elementary and secondary grades. *Journal of School Psychology*, *38*, 477-497.
- Agostin, T. M., & Bain, S. K. (1997). Predicting early school success with developmental and social skills screeners. *Psychology in the Schools*, *34*, 219-228.
- Alva, S. A., & Reyes, R. D. (1999). Psychosocial stress, internalized symptoms, and the academic achievement of Hispanic adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, *14*, 343-358.
- Alwin, D. F., & Thornton, A. (1984). Family origins and the schooling process: Early versus late influence of parental characteristics. *American Sociological Review*, 49, 784-802.
- Anderson, P. L., & Adams, P. J. (1985). The relationship of five-year-olds'

- academic readiness and perceptions of competence and acceptance. *Journal of Educational Research*, 79, 114-118.
- Assor, A., & Connell, J. P. (1992). The validity of students' self-reports as measures of performance affecting self-appraisals. In D. H. Schunk and J. L. Meece (Eds.) *Student perceptions in the classroom* (pp. 25-47). Hillside, New Jersey: Erlbaum.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change.

 *Psychological Review, 84, 191-215.
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51, 1173-1182.
- Becker, H. J., & Epstein, J. L. (1982). Parent involvement: A survey of teacher practices. *The Elementary School Journal*, 83, 85-102.
- Berg, M., & Medrich, E. A. (1980). Children in four neighborhoods: The physical environment and its effect on play and play patterns. *Environment and Behavior*, 12, 320-348.
- Birch, S. H., & Ladd, G. W. (1997). The teacher-child relationship and children's early school adjustment. *Journal of School Psychology*, *35*, 61-79.
- Birch, S. H., & Ladd, G. W. (1998). Children's interpersonal behaviors and the teacher-child relationship. *Developmental Psychology*, *34*, 934-946.
- Bogenschneider, K. (1997). Parental involvement in adolescent schooling: A

- proximal process with transcontextual validity. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 59, 718-733.
- Brody, N. (1997). Intelligence, schooling, and society. *American Psychologist*, 52, 1046-1050.
- Burchinal, M. R., Peisner-Feinberg, E., Pianta, R., & Howes, C. (2002).

 Development of academic skills from preschool through second grade:

 Family and classroom predictors of developmental trajectories. *Journal of School Psychology*, 40, 415-436.
- Butler, S. R., Marsh, H. W., Sheppard, M. J., & Sheppard, J. L. (1985). Seven-year longitudinal study of the early prediction of reading achievement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 77, 349-361.
- Caughy, M. O., Randolph, S. M., & O'Campo, P. J. (2002). The Africentric home environment inventory: An observational measure of the racial socialization features of the home environment for African American preschool children. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 28, 37-51.
- Ceci, S. J. & Williams, W. M. (1997). Schooling, intelligence, and income.

 *American Psychologist, 52, 1051-1058.
- Chapman, M., Skinner, E. A., & Baltes, P. B. (1990). Interpreting correlations between children's perceived control and cognitive performance: Control, agency, or means-ends beliefs? *Developmental Psychology*, 26, 246-253.
- Christian, K., Morrison, F. J., & Bryant, F. B. (1998). Predicting kindergarten academic skills: Interactions among child care, maternal education, and

- family literacy environments. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 13*, 501-521.
- Christenson, S. L., Hurley, C. M., Sheridan, S. M., & Fenstermacher, K. (1997).

 Parents' and school psychologists' perspectives on parent involvement activities. *The School Psychology Review*, 26, 111-130.
- Christenson, S. L., Rounds, T., & Gorney, D. (1992). Family factors and student achievement: An avenue to increase students' success. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 7, 178-206.
- Chung, L. (2001). A study of teacher factors in teacher-child relationships with preschool children. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Nebraska-Lincoln.
- Cicchetti, D., & Toth, S. L. (1988). Perspectives on research and practice in developmental psychopathology. In W. Damon and I. E. Sigel (Eds.) *Handbook of child psychology, 5th ed. Vol 4: Child psychology in practice.* (pp. 479-583). Hoboken, NJ, US: John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Clark, K. E., & Ladd, G. W. (2000). Connectedness and autonomy support in parent-child relationships: Links to children's socioemotional orientation and peer relationships. *Developmental Psychology*, *36*, 485-498.
- Committee on Early Childhood Pedagogy. (2000). *Eager to learn: Educating our preschoolers*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.
- Cohn, D. A. (1990). Child-mother attachment of six-year-olds and social competence at school. *Child Development*, *61*, 152-162.

- Dompnier, B., Pansu, P., & Bressoux, P. (2006). An integrative model of scholastic judgments: Pupils' characteristics, class context, halo effect, and internal attributions. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 11, 119-133.
- Dornbusch, S. M., Ritter, P. L., Leiderman, P. H., Roberts, D. F., & Fraleigh, M. J. (1987). The relation of parenting style to adolescent school performance. *Child Development*, 58, 1244-1257.
- DuPaul, G. J., & Rapport, M. D. (1991). Teacher ratings of academic skills: The development of the academic performance rating scale. *School Psychology Review*, 20, 284-300.
- DuPaul, G. J., Volpe, R. J., Jitendra, A. K., Lutz, J. G., Lorah, K. S., & Gruber, R. (2004). Elementary school students with AD/HD: Predictors of academic achievement. *Journal of School Psychology*, 42, 285-301.
- El Hassan, K. (1999). Validation of the Harter pictorial scale of perceived competence and social acceptance with Lebanese children. *Social Behavior and Personality*, 27, 339-354.
- Entwisle, D. R., & Alexander, K. L. (1988). Factors affecting achievement test scores and marks of Black and White first graders. *The Elementary School Journal*, 88, 449-471.
- Entwisle, D. R. & Hayduk, L. A. (1988). Lasting effects of elementary school. Sociology of Education, 61, 147-159.
- Epstein, J. L. (1990). School and family connections: Theory, research, and implications for integrating sociologies of education and family. *Marriage*

- and Family Review, 15, 99-126.
- Epstein, J. L. (1996). Perspectives and previews on research and policy for school, family, and community partnerships. In A. Booth, & J. F. Dunn (Eds.), *Family-school links: How do they affect educational outcomes?* (pp. 209-246). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Fan, W. (2001). Parental involvement and students' academic achievement: A growth modeling analysis. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, 70, 27-61.
- Findley, M. J., & Cooper, H. M. (1983). Locus of control and academic achievement: A literature review. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 44, 419-427
- Fishel, M., & Ramirez, L. (2005). Evidence-based parent involvement interventions with school-aged children. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 20, 371-402.
- Frazier, P. A., Tix, A. P., & Barron, K. E. (2004). Testing moderator and mediator effects in counseling psychology research. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *51*, 115-134.
- Glutting, J. J., Watkins, M. W., Konold, T. R., & McDermott, P. A. (2006).

 Distinctions without a difference: The utility of observed versus latent factors from the WISC-IV in estimating reading and math achievement on the WIAT-II. *The Journal of Special Education*, 40, 103-114.
- Gonzalez-DeHass, A. R., Willems, P. P., & Holbein, M. F. (2005). Examining the relationship between parental involvement and student motivation. *Educational Psychology Review, 17*, 99-123.

- Gottfried, A. E., Fleming, J. S., & Gottfried, A. W. (1994). Role of parental motivational practices in children's academic intrinsic motivation and achievement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 86, 104-113.
- Gottfried, A. W., Gottfried, A. E., Bathurst, K., Guerin, D. W., & Parramore, M. M. (2003). Socioeconomic status in children's development and family environment: Infancy through adolescence. In M. H. Bornstein & R. H. Bradley (Eds.), *Socioeconomic status, parenting, and child development* (pp. 189-205). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Graziano, P. A., Reavis, R. D., Keane, S. P., & Calkins, S. D. (2007). The role of emotion regulation in children's early academic success. *Journal of School Psychology*, 45, 3-19.
- Grolnick, W. S., Benjet, C., Kurowski, C. O., & Apostoleris, N. H. (1997).

 Predictors of parent involvement in children's schooling. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 89, 538-548.
- Grolnick, W. S., & Ryan, R. M. (1989). Parent styles associated with children's self-regulation and competence in school. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 81, 143-154.
- Grolnick, W. S., Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (1991). Inner resources for school achievement: Motivational mediators of children's perceptions of their parents. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 83, 508-517.
- Grolnick, W. S., & Slowiaczek, M. L. (1994). Parents' involvement in children's schooling: A multidimensional conceptualization and motivational model.

- Child Development, 65, 237-252.
- Hamre, B. K., & Pianta, C. R. (2001). Early teacher-child relationships and the trajectory of children's school outcomes through eighth grade. *Child Development*, 72, 625-638.
- Hara, S. R., & Burke, D. J. (1998). Parent involvement: The key to improved student achievement. *The School Community Journal*, 8, 9-19.
- Harter, S. (1982). The perceived competence scale for children. *Child Development*, *53*, 87-97.
- Harter, S., & Pike, R. (1984). The pictorial scale of perceived competence and social acceptance for young children. *Child Development*, *55*, 1969-1982.
- Hill, N. E. (2001). Parenting and academic socialization as they relate to school readiness: The roles of ethnicity and family income. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 93, 686-697.
- Hill, N. E., & Craft, S. A. (2003). Parent-school involvement and school
 performance: Mediated pathways among socioeconomically comparable
 African American and Euro-American families. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 96, 74-83.
- Hollingshead, A. B. (1975). Four factor index of social status. Unpublished manuscript, Yale University, New Haven, CT.
- Hoover-Dempsey, K. V., & Sandler, H. M. (1995). Parental involvement in children's education: Why does it make a difference? *Teachers College Record*, 97, 310-332.

- Hoover-Dempsey, K. V., Walker, J. M., Jones, K. P., & Reed, R. (2002).

 Teachers involving parents (TIP): Results of an in-service teacher education program for enhancing parental involvement. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 18, 843-867.
- Howse, R. B., Calkins, S. D., Anastopoulos, A. D., Keane, S. P., & Shelton, T. L.(2003). Regulatory contributors to children's kindergarten achievement. *Early Education & Development*, 14, 101-119.
- Hughes, J. N., Cavell, T. A., & Prasad-Gaur, A. (2001). A positive view of peer acceptance in aggressive youth risk for future peer acceptance. *Journal of School Psychology*, 39, 239-252.
- Hughes, J. N., Gleason, K. A., & Zhang, D. (2005). Relationship influences on teachers' perceptions of academic competence in academically at-risk minority and majority first grade students. *Journal of School Psychology*, 43, 303-320.
- Hughes, J., & Kwok, O. (2007). Influence of student-teacher and parent-teacher relationship on lower achieving readers' engagement and achievement in the primary grades. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 99, 39-51.
- Izzo, C. V., Weissberg, R. P., Kasprow, W. J., & Fendrich, M. (1999). A longitudinal assessment of teacher perceptions of parent involvement in children's education and school performance. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 27, 817-839.
- Jeynes, W. H. (2003). A meta-analysis: The effects of parental involvement on

- minority children's academic achievement. *Education and Urban Society*, 35, 202-218.
- Jimerson, S., Egeland, B., Sroufe, L.A., & Carlson, B. (2000). A prospective longitudinal study of high school dropouts examining multiple predictors across development. *Journal of School Psychology*, *38*, 525-549.
- Jimerson, S., Egeland, B., & Teo, A. (1999). A longitudinal study of achievement trajectories: Factors associated with change. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 91, 116-126.
- Julian, T. W., McKenry, P. C., & McKelvey, M. W. (1994). Cultural variations in parenting: Perceptions of Caucasian, African-American, Hispanic, and Asian-American parents. *Family Relations*, 43, 30-37.
- Kenny, D. T., & Faunce, G. (2004). Effects of academic coaching on elementary and secondary school students. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 98, 115-126.
- Kohl, G. O., Lengua, L. J., & McMahon, R. J. (2000). Parent involvement in school conceptualizing multiple dimensions and their relations with family and demographic risk factors. *Journal of School Psychology*, 38, 501-523.
- Ladd, G. W., & Price, J. M. (1986). Promoting children's cognitive and social competence: The relation between parents' perceptions of task difficulty and children's perceived and actual competence. *Child Development*, 57, 446-460.

- Lawson, M. A. (2003). School-family relations in context: Parent and teacher perceptions of parent involvement. *Urban Education*, *38*, 77-133.
- Lomax, R. G. (2001). An Introduction to Statistical Concepts for Education and Behavioral Sciences. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- MacKinnon, D. P., Lockwood, C. M., Hoffman, J. M., West, S. G., & Sheets, V. (2002). A comparison of methods to test the significance of the mediated effect. *Psychological Methods*, 7, 83-104.
- McWayne, C., Hampton, V., Fantuzzo, J., Cohen, H. L., & Sekino, Y. (2004). A multivariate examination of parent involvement and social and academic competencies of urban kindergarten children. *Psychology in the Schools*, 41, 363-377.
- Marcon, R. A. (1999). Positive relationships between parent school involvement and public school inner-city preschoolers' development and academic performance. *School Psychology Review*, 28, 395-412.
- Marsh, H. W., Trautwein, U., Ludtke, O., Koller, O., & Baumert, J. (2005).

 Academic self-concept, interest, grades, and standardized test scores:

 Reciprocal effects models of causal ordering. *Child Development*, 76, 397-416.
- Meehl, P. E. (1986). Diagnostic taxa as open concepts: Metatheoretical and statistical questions about reliability and construct validity in the grand strategy of nosological revision. In T. Millon and G. L. Klerman (Eds.). *Contemporary directions in psychopathology: Toward the DSM-IV* (pp. 215-231). New York:

Guilford.

- Miedel, W. T., & Reynolds, A. J. (1999). Parent involvement in early intervention for disadvantaged children: Does it matter? *Journal of School Psychology*, 37, 379-402.
- Naglieri, J. A., De Lauder, B. Y., Goldstein, S., & Schwebech, A. (2006). WISC-III and CAS: Which correlates higher with achievement for a clinical sample? *School Psychology Quarterly*, 21, 62-76.
- National Commission on Excellence in Education. (1983). *A nation at risk: The imperative for educational reform*. Washington, DC: U.S. Government. Printing Office.
- Pedersen, E., Faucher, T. A., & Eaton, W. W. (1978). A new perspective on the effects of first-grade teachers on children's subsequent adult status.

 Harvard Educational Review, 48, 1-31.
- Pettit, G. S., Bates, J. E., & Dodge, K. A. (1997). Supportive parenting, ecological context, and children's adjustment: A seven-year longitudinal study. *Child Development*, 68, 908-923.
- Pianta, R. (2001). Implications of a developmental systems model for preventing and treating behavioral disturbances in children and adolescents. In J. Hughes, A. LaGreca, & J. Conoley (Eds.). Handbook of psychological services for children and adolescents (pp. 23-41). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Pianta, R. C., & Nimetz, S. L (1991). Relationships between children and teachers: Associations with classroom and home behavior. *Journal of*

- Applied Developmental Psychology, 12, 379-393.
- Pianta, R. C., Nimetz, S. L., & Bennet, E. (1997). Mother-child relationships, teacher-child relationships, and school outcomes in preschool and kindergarten. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 12, 263-280.
- Pianta, R. C., & Steinberg, M. (1992). Teacher-child relationships and the process of adjusting to school. *New Directions for Child Development*, 567, 61-80.
- Pianta, R. C., Steinberg, M. S., & Rollins. (1995). The first two years of school:

 Teacher-child relationships and deflections in children's classroom
 adjustment. *Development and Psychopathology*, 7, 295-312.
- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2006). Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in simple and multiple mediator models.

 Manuscript submitted for publication.
- Reid, M. J., Webster-Stratton, C., & Beauchaine, T. P. (2001). Parent training in
 Head Start: A comparison of program response among African-American,
 Asian American, Caucasian, and Hispanic mothers. *Prevention Science*,
 2, 209-227.
- Rentner, D. S., & Kober, N. (2001). *Higher learning = higher earnings: What you need to know about college and careers*. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED457628).
- Rimm-Kaufman, S. E., Pianta, R. C., Cox, M. J., & Bradley, M. J. (2003). Teacher rated family involvement and children's social and academic outcomes in kindergarten.

- Early Education & Development, 14, 179-198.
- Sattler, J. M. (2001). Assessment of children: Cognitive applications (4th ed.).

 San Diego: Jerome M. Sattler Publisher, Inc.
- Schunk, D. H. (2004). *Learning Theories: An educational perspective* (4th ed.).

 Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Schunk, D. H. (1981). Modeling and attributional effects on children's achievement: A self-efficacy analysis. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 73, 93-105.
- Schunk, D. H. (1991). Self-efficacy and academic motivation. *Educational Psychologist*, 26, 207-231.
- Schunk, D. H., & Pajares, F. (2005). Competence perceptions and academic functioning. In A. J. Elliot & C. S. Dweck (Eds.), *Handbook of competence and motivation*, (pp. 85-104). New York: Guilford.
- Skinner, E. A., Chapman, M., & Baltes, P. B. (1988a). Children's beliefs about control, means-ends, and agency: Developmental differences during middle childhood. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 11, 369-388.
- Skinner, E. A., Chapman, M., & Baltes, P. B. (1988b). Control, means-ends, and agency beliefs: A new conceptualization and its measurement during childhood. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *54*, 117-133.
- Skinner, E. A., Wellborn, J. G., & Connell, J. P. (1990). What it takes to do well in school and whether I've got it: A process model of perceived control

- and children's engagement and achievement in school. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82, 22-32.
- Smith, C. L., Calkins, S. D., Keane, S. P., Anastopoulos, A. D., & Shelton, T. L.
 (2004). Predicting stability and change in toddler behavior problems:
 Contributions of maternal behavior and child gender. *Developmental Psychology*, 40, 29-42.
- Sobel, M. E. (1982). Asymptotic confidence intervals for indirect effects in structural equation models. *Sociological Methodology*, *13*, 290-312.
- Stevenson, H. W., Chen, C., & Uttal, D.H. (1990). Beliefs and achievement: A study of Black, White, and Hispanic children. *Child Development*, *61*, 508-523.
- Stevenson. D. L., & Baker, D. P. (1987). The family-school relation and the child's school performance. *Child Development*, *58*, 1348-1357.
- Strein, W. S., & Simonson, T. (1999). Kindergartners' self-perceptions:

 Theoretical and measurement issues. *Measurement & Evaluation in Counseling & Development*, 32, 31-43.
- The Psychological Corporation. (2002). Wechsler Individual Achievement Test-Second Edition (WIAT-II). San Antonio, TX: Author.
- United States Department of Education. (1994). *The Goals 2000: Educate America Act- Launching a new era in education*. Washington, DC: Author.
- United States Department of Education. (1999). *The condition of education*. Washington, DC: Author.
- United States Department of Education. (2001). Outcomes of education. Washington,

DC: Author.

- Walters, E. J., & Pinderhughes, E. E. (2003, April). *Parent involvement and children's academic and social functioning in early elementary school.*Poster session presented at the biennial meeting of the Society for Research in Child Development, Tampa, FL.
- Watkins, M. W., Lei, P., & Canivez, G. L. (2007). Psychometric intelligence and achievement: A cross-lagged panel analysis. *Intelligence*, *35*, 59-68.
- Webster-Stratton, C. (1998). Preventing conduct problems in Head Start children: Strengthening parenting competencies. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 5, 715-730.
- Webster-Stratton, C., & Hammond, M. (1998). Conduct problems and level of social competence in Head Start children: Prevalence, pervasiveness, and associated risk factors. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 1, 101-124.
- Webster-Stratton, C., Reid, M. J., & Hammond, M. (2001). Preventing conduct problems, promoting social competence: A parent and teacher training partnership in Head Start. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, *3*, 283-302.
- Webster-Stratton, C., Reid, M. J., & Hammond, M. (2004). Treating children with early-onset conduct problems: Intervention outcomes for parent, child, and teacher training. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 33, 105-124.

- Wechsler, D. (1991). Wechsler intelligence scale for children (3rd ed.). San Antonio: The Psychological Corporation.
- West, S. G., Aiken, L. S., & Krull, J. L. (1996). Experimental personality designs:

 Analyzing categorical by continuous variable interactions. *Journal of Personality*, 64, 1-48.
- Woodcock, R. W., McGrew, K. S., & Mather, N. (2001). *The Woodcock-Johnson III*. Itasca, IL: Riverside.
- Zellman, G. L., & Waterman, J. M. (1998). Understanding the impact of parent school involvement on children's educational outcomes. *The Journal of Educational Research*, *91*, 370-380.

Appendix A

General family information

RIGHT TRACK - Participant Information

I. General Information Today's Date: _____ Subject Number: _____ Child's Name: _____ Child's Date of Birth: _____ II. Mother's Information Mother's Name: _____ Mother's Date of Birth: _____ Mother's relation to child: _ Biological Mother ___ Adoptive Mother ___ Stepmother If you are in a parenting situation that is not listed above, please describe here: **Mother's Education Level: Mother's Occupation:** ___ Some High School **Employer:** ______ ___ High School Graduate/GED ___ Some College (# of years____) Job Title: _____ ___ College Graduate Work Phone Number: _____ ___ MA/MS ___ PhD ___ Other (please explain____ **Mother's Average Annual Salary:** ___<\$20,000 ___ \$20,000 - \$35,000 ___ \$35,000 - \$50,000 **Mother's Marital Status:** ___ \$50,000 - \$65,000 ____ \$65,000 - \$80,000 (Married, Single, Separated, Divorced, Remarried) ____ \$80,000 - \$95,000 ___ \$95,000 - \$110,000 ___> \$110,000 If your address or phone number has changed, please fill in the following few lines. If not, please continue to section III "Father/Partner's Information" on the following page. **Mother's Address: Mother's Phone Numbers:**

Cell: _____

Mother's Email Address:			
III. Father/Partner's Information			
Is your child's father or your partner living in the	e household with you and your child?	YES	NO
If NO, does your child have a father or a father fi	igure that is involved in their life?	YES	NO
If NO, please continue to section IV "Sibling Inforquestions about that person:	mation". If YES, please answer the foll	owing	
Father's Name:	Father's Date of Birth:		
Father's Relation to Child:	Father's Education Level:		
Biological Father Adoptive Father Stepfather Other Father's Email Address:	Some High School High School Graduate/GED Some College (# of years) College Graduate MA/MS PhD Other (please explain)	
Father's Marital Status:	Father's Occupation:		
(Married, Single, Separated, Divorced, Remarried)	Employer: Job Title: Work Phone Number:		
Father's Average Annual Salary: (Only if salary is contributed to the household's i < \$20,000 \$20,000 - \$35,000 \$35,000 - \$50,000 \$50,000 - \$65,000 \$65,000 - \$80,000 \$80,000 - \$95,000 \$95,000 - \$110,000 > \$110,000 Don't Know	ncome)		

IV. Sibling Information

Child's Siblings, Birthdays and Relation:

Sibling's Name:	Relation to Child:	Sibling's Birthday:
	(Biological, Step or Half)	
V. Contact Information		
Please provide us with the name where you are if you move, cha	• ′	(a friend or relative) who will know
Contact's Name:		you:
Address:	Phone Num	ber:
	Cell Phone:	

Appendix B

Items of teacher report of parent involvement

How much is this parent interested in getting to know you?

How much do you feel this parent has the same goals for his/her child that the school does?

To the best of your knowledge, how much does this parent do things to encourage this child's positive attitude toward education (e.g., take child to the library, play games to teach child new things, read to child)?

How involved in this parent in his/her child's education and the classroom? How important is education in this family?

Do you think that the parent is more interested in her child's education than the parent's participation indicates (i.e., full-time work, student, several young children at home)?

Table 1. Descriptive Statistics for Measures

	M	SD	Min	Max	N
Parent Involvement (T) (INVOLVE)	4.04	.86	1.50	5.00	158
Perceived Cognitive Competence (Harter) (L)	3.45	.57	1.17	4.00	158
Student-teacher relationship (STRS) (T)	112.81	11.97	69.00	131.00	158
Standardized Achievement Test Score (WIAT-II)(L)	108.10	14.74	70.00	143.50	158
Full Scale IQ (WISC-III) (L)	108.56	14.39	65.00	139.00	158
Classroom Academic Performance (APRS) (T)	4.33	1.03	1.00	5.00	158
Socioeconomic status (Hollingshead) (P)	44.20	10.55	14.00	66.00	158

⁽P) = parent report(T) = teacher report(L) = laboratory measure

Table 2.

Correlations Between Variables of Interest

Variable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1. Socioeconomic status (Hollingshead)	-						
2. Full Scale IQ Score (WISC-III)	.42***	-					
3. Parent involvement (INVOLVE-T)	.26**	.39***	-				
4. Perceived cognitive Competence (Harter)	.17*	.34***	.31***	-			
5. Positive student- teacher relationship (STRS)	.04	.20*	.48***	.20*	-		
6. Standardized achievement test score (WIAT-II)	.31***	.68***	.43***	.54***	.26**	-	
7. Classroom academic performance (APRS)	.24**	.47***	.35***	.24**	.38***	.46***	-

^{*}p <.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001

Table 3.

Descriptive Statistics By Ethnicity	European American		Non E	Non European Americ			
	(N = I)	(05)		(N=53)			
	M	SD	M	SD	df	t	
Parent Involvement (T) (INVOLVE)	4.18	.83	3.76	.85	156	2.98**	
Standardized Achievement Test Score (WIAT-II) (L)	109.53	14.94	105.25	14.04	156	1.73	
Classroom Academic Performance (APRS (T)) 4.49	.88	4.03	1.23	79.2	2.41*	
*p <.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001							

⁽P) = parent report(T) = teacher report(L) = laboratory measure

Table 4.

Regression Analyses Testing Ethnicity as a Moderator of Parent Involvement as a Predictor of
Child's WIAT-II Score

	В	SE B	β	\mathbb{R}^2	R ² Change	F Change
Step 1.				.19	.19	32.57***
Ethnicity		2.35				
Parent Involvement (z score)	7.48	1.59	.44***		0.0	0.4
Step 2. Ethnicity X Parent Involvement (z score)	43	2.31	02	.19	.00	.04

^{*}p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001

Table 5.

Regression Analyses Testing Parent Involvement as a Predictor of Child's WIAT-II Score

		В	SE B	β	R^2	R ² Change	F Change
Step 1.	E-II CI- IO	(2)	07	(0***	.47	.47	67.26***
	Full-Scale IQ score Socioeconomic status	.62 .01	.07 .09	.60*** .01			
Step 2.	Parent Involvement	3.38	1.08	.20	.50	.03	9.88**

^{*}p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001

Table 6.

Regression Analyses Testing Ethnicity as a Moderator of Parent Involvement as a Predictor of
Child's Classroom Academic Performance

		В	SE B	β	R^2	R ² Change	F Change
Step 1.	Ethnicity Parent Involvement		.17 .11	14 .32***	.14	.14	17.67***
Step 2.	Ethnicity X Parent involvement	.02	.17	.01	.14	.00	.01

^{*}p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001

Table 7.

Regression Analyses Testing Parent Involvement as a Predictor of Child's Classroom Academic

Performance

Step 1. .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 .22 <			В	SE B	β	R^2	R ² Change	F Change
Socioeconomic status .00 .01 .03	Step 1.	_				.22	.22	22.26***
Step 2. Parent Involvement .24 .09 .20 .26 .04 6.68	Step 2.					.26	.04	6.68*

^{*}p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001

Table 8.

Regression Analyses Testing Parent Involvement as a Predictor of Perceived Cognitive Competence and the Student-Teacher Relationship

		В	SE B	β	R^2	R^2	F				
						Change	Change				
Regression Examining Parent Involvement as a Predictor of Perceived Cognitive Competence											
Step 1.	Full Scale IQ	.01	.00	.25	.11	.11	19.87 ***				
Step 2.	Parent Involvement	.14	.05	.21	.15	.04	6.99 **				
Regress	ion Examining Parent Involvement as a Pro	edictor	of the S	tuden	t-Teach	er Relation	nship				
_	Full Scale IQ	.01		.02		.04	6.39 *				
Step 2.	Parent involvement	6.57	1.07	.47	.23	.19	37.42 ***				

^{*}p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001

Table 9.

Regression Analyses Testing Perceived Cognitive Competence as a Predictor of Child's Academic

Performance

		В	SE B	β	R^2	R^2	F			
						Change	Change			
Regression Examining Perceived Cognitive Competence as a Predictor of Child's WIAT-II score										
Step 1.	Full Scale IQ	.58	.06	.57	.46	.46	134.93***			
Step 2.	Perceived Cognitive Competence	8.85	1.44	.35	.57	.11	38.02***			
Regress	ion Examining Perceived Cognitive Compe	etence a	as a Pre	dictor	of Chil	d's Classr	oom			
Academ	ic Performance									
Step 1.	Full Scale IQ	.03	.01	.44	.22	.22	44.19***			
Step 2.	Perceived Cognitive Competence	.16	.13	.09	.03	.01	1.47			

^{*}p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001

Table 10.

Regression Analyses Testing Positive Student-Teacher Relationship as a Predictor of Child's Academic Performance

		В	SE B	β	R^2	R^2	F			
						Change	Change			
Regression Examining Student-Teacher Relationship as a Predictor of Child's WIAT-II score										
Step 1.	Full Scale IQ	.67	.06	.66	.46	.46	134.93***			
Step 2.	Student-Teacher Relationship	.16	.07	.13	.48	.02	4.57*			
Regress	ion Examining Student-Teacher Relationsh	iip as a	Predict	or of C	Child's	Classroom	Academic			
Perform	ance									
Step 1.	Full Scale IQ	.03	.01	.41	.22	.22	44.19***			
Step 2.	Student-Teacher Relationship	.03	.01	.30	.31	.09	19.20***			

^{*}p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001

Table 11.

Regression Analyses Testing Perceived Cognitive Competence and the Student-Teacher

Relationship as Multiple Mediators of the Relation Between Parent Involvement and Child's

Academic Performance

		В	SE B	β	\mathbb{R}^2	\mathbb{R}^2	F
						Change	Change
Regression Examining Mediation of the Relation Between Parent Involvement and Child's WIAT-							
II score							
Step 1.	Full Scale IQ	.54	.06	.52	.46	.46	134.93***
Step 2.					.58	.11	20.29***
r	Perceived Cognitive Competence	8.12	1.45	.32***			
	Student-Teacher Relationship	.05	.07	.04			
Step 3.	Parent Involvement	1.95	1.10	.11	.58	.00	3.12
Regression Examining Mediation of the Relation Between Parent Involvement and Child's							
Classroom Academic Performance							
Step 1.	Full Scale IQ	.03	.01	.39	.22	.22	44.19***
Step 2.	Student-Teacher Relationship	.02	.01	.27	.31	.09	19.20***
Step 3.	Parent Involvement	.09	.10	.07	.31	.00	.84
\$.0° \$\$.01 \$\$\$\$.001							

^{*}p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001

Figure 1 Full mediation



